

USAAEFA PROJECT NO. 85-03

US ARMY AVIATION SYSTEMS COMMAND

AIRWORTHINESS AND FLIGHT CHARACTERISTICS OF THE JOH - 58C (OH-58X SURROGATE) HELICOPTER

JAMES L. WEBRE CW4, AV PROJECT OFFICER / PILOT

JOHN R. MARTIN MAJ, AV PROJECT PILOT

FREDERICK W. STELLAR MAJ, AV PROJECT PILOT

MATT S. GRAHAM PROJECT ENGINEER

RALPH WORATSCHEK PROJECT ENGINEER

FEBRUARY 1986

FINAL REPORT

AD-A180 259

USAAEFA



APPROVED FOR PUBLIC RELEASE, DISTRIBUTION UNLIMITED.

US ARMY AVIATION ENGINEERING FLIGHT ACTIVITY EDWARDS AIR FORCE BASE, CALIFORNIA 93523 - 5000

87

S

1 3

ELECTE MAY 1 4 1987

DISCLAIMER NOTICE



THIS DOCUMENT IS BEST QUALITY AVAILABLE. THE COPY FURNISHED TO DTIC CONTAINED A SIGNIFICANT NUMBER OF PAGES WHICH DO NOT REPRODUCE LEGIBLY.

DISCLAIMER NOTICE

The findings of this report are not to be construed as an official Department of the Army position unless so designated by other authorized documents.

DISPOSITION INSTRUCTIONS

Destroy this report when it is no longer needed. Do not return it to the originator.

TRADE NAMES

The use of trade names in this report does not constitute an official endorsement or approval of the use of the commercial hardware and software.

| | PAGE | READ INSTRUCTIONS |
|---|--|---|
| REFURI DULUMENTATION | 2. GOVT ACCESSION N | D. 3. RECIPIENT'S CATALOG NUMBER |
| | AA_ + 19 | 1119 |
| JSAAEFA PROJECT NO. 85-03 | <i><i>YIU</i>^{<i>T</i>}<i>IU</i>^{<i>T</i>}<i>U</i>^{<i>T</i>}<i>U</i>^{<i>T</i>}<i>U</i>^{<i>T</i>}<i>U</i>^{<i>T</i>}<i>U</i>^{<i>T</i>}<i>U</i>^{<i>T</i>}<i>U</i>^{<i>T</i>}<i>U</i>^{<i>T</i>}<i>U</i>^{<i>T</i>}<i>U</i>^{<i>T</i>}<i>U</i>^{<i>T</i>}<i>U</i>^{<i>T</i>}<i>U</i>^{<i>T</i>}<i>U</i>^{<i>T</i>}<i>U</i>^{<i>T</i>}<i>U</i>^{<i>T</i>}<i>U</i>^{<i>T</i>}<i>U</i>^{<i>T</i>}<i>U</i>^{<i>T</i>}<i>U</i>^{<i>T</i>}<i>U</i>^{<i>T</i>}<i>U</i>^{<i>T</i>}<i>U</i>^{<i>T</i>}<i>U</i>^{<i>T</i>}<i>U</i>^{<i>T</i>}<i>U</i>^{<i>T</i>}<i>U</i>^{<i>T</i>}<i>U</i>^{<i>T</i>}<i>U</i>^{<i>T</i>}<i>U</i>^{<i>T</i>}<i>U</i>^{<i>T</i>}<i>U</i>^{<i>T</i>}<i>U</i>^{<i>T</i>}<i>U</i>^{<i>T</i>}<i>U</i>^{<i>T</i>}<i>UU</i>^{<i>T</i>}<i>U</i>^{<i>T</i>}<i>U</i>^{<i>T</i>}<i>U</i>^{<i>T</i>}<i>U</i>^{<i>T</i>}<i>U</i>^{<i>T</i>}<i>UU</i>^{<i>T</i>}<i>UUUUUUUUUUUUU</i></i> | 5. TYPE OF REPORT & PERIOD COVERED |
| TITLE (and Subtilie) | DISTICS OF THE | FINAL |
| AIXWORTHINESS AND FLIGHT CHARACTER | DTED | 27 IUNE-23 OCTOBER 1985 |
| JUH-JOC (UH-JOX SURROGATE) MELICON | LICK | 6. PERFORMING ORG. REPORT NUMBER |
| | | |
| AUTHOR(.) | | 8. CONTRACT OR GRANT NUMBER(4) |
| JAMES L. WEBRE, FREDERICK W. STE | LLAR | |
| JOHN R. MARTIN, MATT S. GRAHAM | М | |
| | | 10. PROGRAM ELEMENT, PROJECT, TASK |
| PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME AND ADDRES |)) | AREA & WORK UNIT NUMBERS |
| US ARMY AVN ENGINEERING FLIGHT AC | | |
| EDWARDS AIR FORCE BASE, CA 93523 | -5000 | EJ-4-AR033-01-EJ-EC |
| CONTROLLING OFFICE NAME AND ADDRESS | | 12. REPORT DATE |
| IL ARMY AVIATION SVETEMS COMMAND | | FEBRUARY 1986 |
| 4300 GOODFELLOW BOULEVARD | | 13. NUMBER OF PAGES |
| ST. LOUIS, MO 63120-1798 | | 134 |
| 4. MONITORING AGENCY NAME & ADDRESS(If differ | ent from Controlling Office |) 15. SECURITY CLASS. (of this report) |
| | | UNCLASSIFIED |
| · · | | 15. DECLASSIFICATION/DOWNGRADING |
| | | SCHEDULE |
| Approved for public release; dist | ribution unlimit | ed. |
| Approved for public release; dist 7. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstract enter | ribution unlimit ed in Block 20, if different | ed. from Report) |
| Approved for public release; dist 7. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the abetract enter 10. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES | ribution unlimit | ed. from Report) |
| Approved for public release; dist 7. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstract enter 18. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES 18. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if necessary Handling Qualities | ribution unlimit ed in Block 20, 11 different and identify by block num ficantly. Important | ed. from Report) ber) |
| Approved for public release; dist 7. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstract entern 18. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES 19. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if necessary Handling Qualities Signi JOH-58C Stabl | ribution unlimit ed in Block 20, 11 different and identify by block num ficantly Improve | ed. from Report) ber) id p. System |
| Approved for public release; dist 7. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstract enter 18. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES 19. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if necessary Handling Qualities Signi JOH-58C Stabi Light Combat Helicopter | ribution unlimit ed in Block 20, if different and identify by block num ficantly Improve lity Augmentatic | ed. from Report) ber) d n System |
| Approved for public release; dist 7. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the abetract enter 8. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES 8. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if necessary Handling Qualities Signi JOH-58C Stabi Light Combat Helicopter SFENA | ribution unlimit ed in Block 20, if different and identify by block num ficantly Improve lity Augmentatic | ed. from Report) ber) id on System |
| Approved for public release; dist 7. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the abetract entern 18. SUPPLEMENTARY HOTES 19. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if necessary Handling Qualities Signi JOH-58C Stabi Light Combat Helicopter SFENA | ribution unlimit ed in Block 20, 11 different end identify by block num ficantly Improve lity Augmentatic | ed. from Report) ber) d n System |
| Approved for public release; dist 7. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstract enterning) 18. SUPPLEMENTARY HOTES 19. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if necessary Handling Qualities Signi JOH-58C Stabi Light Combat Helicopter SFENA 20. ABSTRACT (Continue on reverse side M necessary | ribution unlimit ed in Block 20, 11 different end identify by block num ficantly Improve lity Augmentatic | ed. from Report) ber) d n System er) |
| Approved for public release; dist 7. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstract enter 18. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES 18. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES 19. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if necessary Handling Qualities Signi JOH-58C Stabi Light Combat Helicopter SFENA 24. ABSTRACT (Continue on reverse side N necessary The US Army Aviation Engineering ness and flight characteristics (LCH) from 27 June through 23 includes a stability augmentation and a larger-diameter tail rotor sites from near sea level (488 for | ribution unlimit ed in Block 20, 11 different ficantly Improve lity Augmentatic and identify by block numb Flight Activity test of the JO October 1985. In system manufac Findling qua eet) to 9980 fee | ed. from Report) ber) d on System er) conducted a limited airworthich H-58C Light Combat Helicopter The JOH-58C LCH configuration tured by the SFENA Corporation lities were evaluated at tess t. A total of 49 flights were |

OV OV OV ON OUT

1.1

ïť

15.11

SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE (When Date Entered)

CHEROLON CHONON CHORONOLOGICAL

6' 8'

A PARTY

1.1

UNCLASSIFIED

SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE(When Date Entered)

during the evaluation was placed on evaluating the handling qualities of the JOH-58C in comparison to the standard OH-58C. The overall handling qualities of the JOH-58C were significantly improved as compared to the standard OH-58C. The JOH-58C exhibited less than 10% longitudinal control margin in rearward flight at speeds of approximately 17 knots and above at azimuths between 180 and 210 degrees. This characteristic is a deficiency. The pitch, roll and yaw excursions during low speed flight of the JOH-58C are significantly reduced as compared to the standard OH-58C. These handling qualities characteristics, which were a deficiency in the OH-58C, have been improved to shortcomings or were eliminated under the conditions tested in the JOH-58C. Two additional shortcomings were identified in maneuvering flight.

UNCLASSIFIED

SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE(When Date Entered)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION

5

| Background | 1 |
|------------------|---|
| Test Objective | 1 |
| Description | 1 |
| Test Scope | 2 |
| Test Methodology | 2 |

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

NPO.

-

€¥

s DVO

6000

| General | 4 |
|---|----|
| Handling Qualities | 4 |
| Control System Characteristics | 4 |
| Control Positions in Trimmed Forward Flight | 6 |
| Static Longitudinal Stability | 6 |
| Static Lateral-Directional Stability | 7 |
| Maneuvering Stability | 7 |
| Dynamic Stability | 7 |
| Short-Term (Gust Response) | 7 |
| Long-Term (Longitudinal) | 8 |
| Controllability | 9 |
| Directional | 9 |
| Longitudinal | 9 |
| Lateral | 10 |
| Low Speed Flight Characteristics | 10 |
| General | 10 |
| Region A | 11 |
| Region B | 11 |
| Region C | 12 |
| SAS OFF Flight | 12 |
| Yaw Oscillation | 13 |
| Aircraft System Failures | 13 |
| Simulated Engine Failure | 13 |
| Hydraulic System Failure | 14 |
| Stability Augmentation System Failures | 14 |
| Loss of Tail Rotor Effectiveness | 16 |
| Mission Maneuvers | 18 |
| Instrument Flight Evaluation | 18 |



CONCLUSIONS

,

| General | 19 |
|--------------------------|----|
| Deficiency | 19 |
| Shertcomings | 19 |
| Specification Compliance | 19 |
| | |
| RECOMMENDATIONS | 21 |

21

APPENDIXES

| Α. | References | 22 |
|----|---|----|
| B. | Aircraft Description | 23 |
| с. | Instrumentation | 41 |
| D. | Test Techniques and Data Analysis Methods | 50 |
| Ε. | Test Data | 54 |

DISTRIBUTION

INTRODUCTION

BACKGROUND

1. The US Army Development and Employment Agency (ADEA) and the Ninth Infantry Division (9th ID) have investigated the potential of using a modified OH-58C helicopter (JOH-58C) to perform the light scout/attack mission. Several similarly-configured JOH-58C helicopters were issued a limited Airworthiness Release (ref 1, app A) to conduct the ADEA Scout II test in mid-1984. On 5 February 1985, the US Army Aviation Engineering Flight Activity (USAAEFA) was tasked by the US Army Aviation Systems Command (AVSCOM) to support a stability augmentation system (SAS) optimization program and conduct a follow-on Airworthiness and Flight Characteristics (A&FC) evaluation (ref 2). A test plan (ref 3) was submitted and approved.

2. While the A&FC evaluation was in progess, the 9th ID stopped procurement of the JOH-58C helicopters and initiated deconfiguration of those already obtained. A full-scale A&FC was no longer necessary. However, because of interest in the SAS for possible application to the OH-58 fleet, a plan for an abbreviated test (ref 4) was approved and implemented. The A&FC evaluation was preceded by a SAS optimization program, conducted by the system's manufacturer (SFENA Corporation) at their facilities in Grand Prairie, Texas.

TEST OBJECTIVE

3. The objective of this test was to evaluate the handling qualities characteristics of the JOH-58C with a SAS and a larger diameter tail rotor.

DESCRIPTION

4. The test helicopter, US Army S/N 70-15349, was a modified OH-58C configured for the light combat helicopter (LCH) mission. The OH-58C is built by Bell Helicopter Textron, Inc. (BHTI). The OH-58C has a single two-bladed, semi-rigid, teetering-type main rotor and a single two-bladed, delta-hinged, semi-rigid teetering-type tail rotor. Maximum gross weight is 3200 pounds. The aircraft is powered by an Allison T63-A-720 engine with an uninstalled intermediate power rating (30 minutes) of 420 shaft horsepower (shp) at standard sea level conditions, derated to 317 shp by the main transmission. A detailed description of the standard OH-58C is contained in the operator's manual (ref 5, app A). Major modifications to configure to the JOH-58C LCH configuration are described in the airworthiness release (ref 1)

and are briefly discussed in appendix B. Major modifications include:

- a. SFENA Stability Augmentation System
- b. Improved communication/navigation equipment
- c. Direct View Optics (DVO) roof-mounted sight
- d. Forward Looking Infrared (FLIR) system with roof-mounted turret
- e. Fuel range extenders (590 lb fuel total)
- f. Two-position landing gear
- g. Folding vertical tail fin
- h. Improved tail rotor (BHTI 206L-3 rotor system)
- i. High-frequency (HF) antenna

A hydraulic boost for the tail rotor was installed during SAS optimization at SFENA Corporation and was utilized throughout the A&FC. Portions of the test were conducted with the DVO pod, FLIR pod and HF antenna removed (modified clean configuration).

TEST SCOPE

5. The aircraft was ferried to SFENA in Grand Prairie, Texas (elevation 590 ft), and the SAS optimization program was conducted by SFENA prior to the start of the A&FC. The A&FC was conducted at Edwards AFB, California (elevation 2302 ft), with high altitude testing conducted at Bishop (elevation 4120 ft), and Coyote Flats, California (elevation 9980 ft). Low altitude tests were conducted at Bakersfield, California (elevation 488 ft). Tests in the modified clean configuration were conducted at Edwards AFB. Test conditions are presented in table 1. SAS optimization required 25 flights for a total of 24.6 productive flight test hours between 9 May and 27 June 1985. The A&FC required 49 flights for a total of 34.6 productive flight test hours between 27 June and 23 October 1985. Testing was accomplished within the constraints of the airworthiness release and the operator's manual (refs 1 and 5, app A). Handling qualities were evaluated using MIL-H-8501A (ref 6) as a guide.

TEST METHODOLOGY

6. Flight test data were recorded on magnetic tape using an onboard instrumentation package (app C). Established flight test techniques were used (ref 7, app A). Test techniques and data analysis methods are briefly discussed in appendix D. A Handling Qualities Rating Scale (HQRS) (fig. 1, app D) was used to augment pilot comments relative to handling qualities. A Vibration Rating Scale (VRS) (fig. 2, app D) was used to augment rilot comments relative to vibrations.

i Ca Ca

XXV0

XXXX

•

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

GENERAL

A limited airworthiness and flight characteristics evaluation 7. of the JOH-58C was conducted at test sites near sea level (488 feet) to 9980 feet at the general test conditions listed in table 1. Primary emphasis during the flight testing was placed on evaluating the handling qualities of the JOH-58C in comparison The overall handling qualities of the to the standard OH-58C. JOH-58C were significantly improved as compared to the standard OH-58C. The JOH-58C exhibited less than 10% longitudinal control margin in rearward flight at speeds of approximately 17 knots and above at azimuths between 180 and 210 degrees. This characteristic is a deficiency. The pitch, roll and yaw excursions during low speed flight of the JOH-58C are significantly reduced as compared to the OH-58C. These handling qualities characteristics, which were a deficiency in the OH-58C, have been improved to shortcomings or were eliminated under the conditions tested in the JOH-58C. Two additional shortcomings were identified in maneuvering flight.

HANDLING QUALITIES

Control System Characteristics

8. The mechanical characteristics of the JOH-58C hydraulicallyboosted flight control system were measured on the ground with the rotor and engine stopped. Hydraulic and electrical power were provided by an external source. All adjustable control friction devices were set to minimum friction. The SAS had no effect on control system characteristics. Force trim was ON and collective was full down. Control forces were measured using a hand-held force gauge and were qualitatively verified in flight.

9. The limits of longitudinal and lateral cyclic control travel are presented in figure 1, appendix E. The variation of control position with applied control force for the longitudinal and lateral controls is presented in figures 2 and 3. The longitudinal and lateral cyclic control force gradients were positive and essentially linear with no discontinuities. Breakout forces, including friction, were high (1.5 lb laterally, 2.8 lb aft and 3.8 lb forward longitudinally). High breakout forces increased pilot fatigue during mission maneuvers (para 37). Lateral centering characteristics were positive and absolute (returned the control precisely to the original position). Longitudinal centering characteristics were positive but not absolute, resulting in a 1.0-inch longitudinal trim control displacement band. This large control displacement band increased pilot workload during

| Type of Test | Average Gross Weight (1b) | Average ² Longitudinal Center of Gravity (FS) | Average Density Altitude (ft) | Trim Calibrated Airspeed (KCAS) | Remarks | |
|---|------------------------------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| | 2910 | 110.7 | 3790 | ······································ | | |
| Control Positions | 2980 | 109.2 | 5270 | | | |
| in Trimmed For and | 3100 | 109.6 | 8370 | 28-103 | Level flight. | zero sideslin |
| Flight | 3110 | 109.7 | 11,210 | 20 203 | | Loto Bracorry |
| • | | | | | | |
| Static Longitudinal Stability | 3050 | 109.3 | 5790 | 61, 91 | Level flight | |
| Static Laterai Directional Stability | 3120 | 108.9 | 5900 | 61, 91 | Level flight | |
| Maneuvering Stability | 3030 | 108.6 | 6050 | 90 -94 | Right and lef | t steady turns |
| | 3040 | 109-5 | 2630 | 0 | Hover | |
| Dynamic Stability | 3100 | 109.3 | 5900 | 60 | Climb | |
| | 3130 | 109.2 | 6130 | 92 | Level flight | |
| | | | | | SAS ON/OFF | |
| | i | | | | | |
| | 3060 | 109.0 | 460 | 0 | Hover | DVO, FLIR, |
| Controllability | 3120 | 107.2 | 5040 | 0 | | HF ON and |
| | 3050 | 109.0 | 6150 | 90 | Level flight | OFF |
| Simulated Engine Failures | 31.50 | 109.0 | 4340 | 59, 94 | Level flight | and IRP climb |
| | 3180 | 109.4 | 1770 | 0 | Hover | |
| Simulated SAS | 3160 | 107.1 | 990 | 20 KTAS ³ | Low speed | FLIR, DVO, |
| Failures | 3110 | 109.2 | 5840 | 91 | flight Level flight | HF ON and OFF |
| | | | | | | |
| | 3130 | 107.6 | 1130 | | FLIR, DVO, | Skid height |
| - | 3120 | 107.1 | 4700 | Sideward: 0-35 KTAS | HF ON | 10 ft SAS ON |
| Low Speed Flight | 2940 | 109.9 | 10,750 | Rearward: 0-30 KTAS | | and OFF |
| • | 3100 | 109.6 | 2330 | Forward: 0-35 KTAS | FLIR, DVO, | |
| Loss of Tail Rotor Effectiveness | 3130 | 107.2 | 6780 | 0-42 | FLIR, DVO, HI Masking and u 40 knot appro- right turn to hover. 40 kn with 180° rig downwird hove SAS ON and OI | ON inmasking bach with 90° o crosswind not approach ght turn to er |
| Airspeed Calibration | 3110 | 108.9 | 5400 | 33-100 | Trailing bom | b method |
| Simulated Hydraulics Failures | 3090 | 108.9 | a/r ⁴ | 0-80 kias ⁵ | FLIR, DVO, HF Simulated fai approach to he landing. SAS | ON and OFF lure in flight, over, running ON and OFF. |
| Instrument Meteorological Conditions Evaluation | 3090 | 109.2 | 2500-5000 | 50-90 KIAS | Simulated inac instrument con turns, climbs ground-contro | ivertent nditions, , descents, Lled spproach |
| Mission Maneuvers | 3090 | 109.2 | A/R | A/R | FLIR, DVO, HF Mask/unmask, H area, slopes. | ON and OFF NOE ⁶ , confined SAS ON and OFF |

NOTES:

¹Tests conducted doors ON; mid lateral cg; SAS ON; FLIR, DVO and HF antenna removed (modified clean configuration) and ball-centered flight except where noted. ²Alrectaft cg limits: forward 107.0, aft lesser of 112.5 or operator's manual limit. ³Knots true airspeed. ⁴As required. ⁵Knots inucated airspeed. ⁵Knots inucated airspeed.

6Nap-of-the-earth

·····

.

maneuvering flight (para 14). The large longitudinal trim control displacement band and high breakout force are a shortcoming. The longitudinal control system characteristics failed to meet the requirements of paragraph 3.2.7 of MIL-H-8501A in that breakout including friction force exceeded the maximum allowable.

10. Data for directional control system characteristics are presented in figure 4, appendix E. The total directional control travel was 5.0 inches. The directional control breakout force (including friction) was approximately half that of the standard OH-58C. The directional control system did not incorporate a force trim mechanism, therefore no control centering existed. Although there was no directional control centering, the directional control system characteristics are satisfactory. The directional control system characteristics failed to meet the requirements of paragraph 3.3.10 of MIL-H-8501A in that there was no positive self-centering characteristic.

Control Positions in Trimmed Forward Flight

11. Control positions in trimmed forward flight were evaluated at the conditions listed in table 1. Test results are presented in figures 5 through 8, appendix E. The variation of longitudinal control position was conventional in that increased forward cyclic was required to trim at increased airspeed. The lateral and directional control displacements required with increased airspeed were minimal and control margins at all conditions tested were adequate. The level flight control positions in trimmed forward flight of the JOH-58C in the modified clean configuration were similar to the standard OH-58C helicopter (ref 8, app A) and are satisfactory.

Static Longitudinal Stability

12. The static longitudinal stability characteristics of the JOH-58C were evaluated in level flight at the conditions listed in table 1. Test results are presented in figures 9 and 10, appendix E. The static longitudinal stability was nearly neutral at both conditions tested. Although the position cues for an off trim airspeed condition were slight, it was easy to maintain trim airspeed (HORS 3). Even though the longitudinal control gradients of the JOH-58C failed to meet the requirements of MIL-H-8501A, paragraph 3.2.10, in that there was no positive control position stability near trim cruise airspeed, the static longitudinal stability of the JOH-58C is satisfactory.

Static Lateral-Directional Stability

13. The static lateral-directional stability characteristics of the JOH-58C were evaluated in level flight at the conditions listed in table 1. Test results are presented in figures 11 and 12, appendix E. Static directional stability, as indicated by the variation of directional control position with sideslip, was positive at all test conditions. Dihedral effect, as indicated by the variation of lateral control position with sideslip, was positive for all conditions tested. Side force characteristics, as indicated by the variation of roll attitude with sideslip, were positive for all conditions tested. The gradient at the lower airspeed was slightly shallower than in the standard OH-58C (ref 8, app A). The pilot had adequate cues of an out-of-trim condition and was able to correct it easily. The static lateral-directional stability characteristics of the JOH-58C are satisfactory.

Maneuvering Stability

14. The maneuvering stability characteristics of the JOH-58C were evaluated in left and right steady turns at the conditions listed in table 1. Maneuvering stability data are presented in figure 13, appendix E. Maneuvering stability, as indicated by the variation of longitudinal control position with center of gravity (cg) normal acceleration, was positive at normal accelerations up to 1.25g. Airspeed control of +2 KIAS in a bank angle of 45 degrees (near 1.3g) required +1 inch of longitudinal control displacement. Maintaining bank angle at 45 degrees was difficult because of the aircraft's pitch up divergence ("dig in" tendency), the large trim control displacement band and moderate vibrations (VRS 5). Subsequent investigation revealed that the longitudinal SAS actuators were saturated at bank angles of 45 degrees which made the aircraft's longitudinal control characteristics similar to the standard OH-58C. The standard OH-58C had a similar "dig in" tendency and high pilot workload at bank angles at 45 degrees. However, in bank angles less than 45 degrees, the workload in the JOH-58C was significantly less than in the standard OH-58C. The pitch up divergence ("dig in" tendency) at load factors near 1.3g at cruise airspeeds is a shortcoming.

Dynamic Stability

Short-Term (Gust Response):

15. The short-term dynamic stability characteristics of the JOH-58C were evaluated at the test conditions shown in table 1. Data are presented in figures 14 through 17, appendix E. Gust

response characteristics were simulated by single-axis control pulse inputs of up to 1 inch for 0.5 seconds and by releases from steady-heading sideslips. The short-term dynamic stability characteristics observed in all axes were deadbeat. The aircraft was also flown in light to moderate turbulence with SAS ON and OFF. With SAS ON, the short-term rate damping combined with SAS attitude retention to improve the aircraft's gust response. The deadbeat lateral-directional response was a significant improvement over the easily excited lateral-directional oscillations of the standard OH-58C (ref 8, app A). With SAS OFF, the JOH-58C response was essentially unchanged from the standard OH-58C. The deadbeat gust response characteristics of the JOH-58C will significantly reduce pilot workload in turbulence. The short-term dynamic stability characteristics of the JOH-58C are satisfactory.

Long-Term (Longitudinal):

16. The longitudinal long-term response of the JOH-58C was evaluated at the conditions shown in table 1. No natural excitation of the long-term longitudinal response was noted. Artificial excitation produced the results presented in figure 18. appendix E. A 10-knot decrease in airspeed from the trim point at 80 KIAS resulted in a further decrease to 55 KIAS when controls were returned to trim. Displacement of the longitudinal control momentarily disabled the pitch attitude retention. When the control was returned to the trim position, the SAS attitude retention feature attempted to maintain the pitch attitude present at that time. This nose-up attitude resulted in a slower airspeed, but that attitude was then maintained by the SAS, eliminating any noticeable long-term oscillatory response. This was an improvement over the lightly-damped convergent oscillations of the standard OH-58C (ref 8, app A). The long-term longitudinal response was also evaluated with the aircraft in climbs of over 1000 feet per minute in an attempt to excite the divergent pitch oscillation noted in the operator's manual (ref 5) for aircraft equipped with infrared exhaust stacks (JOH-58C also incorporated these stacks). No pitch oscillation was noted with either natural or artificial excitation during climbs. The pitch attitude retention feature of the JOH-58C will reduce the pilot's workload in maintaining airspeed, freeing him to concentrate on his observation mission and/or providing a more stable platform for aircraft systems. The long-term longitudinal response of the JOH-58C is satisfactory.

Controllability

17. The longitudinal, lateral and directional control response (maximum angular rate per one-inch control displacement) and control sensitivity (maximum angular acceleration per one-inch control displacement) of the JOH-58C were evaluated at the conditions shown in table 1. All three axes were investigated in a hover while only the pitch and roll axes were evaluated in level flight. During controllability testing, it was determined that aircraft response was dependent on SAS actuator position at the time of step input. This was especially apparent in the directional axis. The actuator would often trim up to 75% to one side of neutral, providing greater or lesser damping depending on the direction of input. This made aircraft response unpredictable in the yaw axis but this characteristic was not objectionable. Aircraft responses are presented in figures 19 through 27, appendix E. Controllability characteristics for the LCH configuration were qualitatively compared to the modified clean configuration and are essentially unchanged.

Directional:

18. Data for directional controllability characteristics in a hover are presented in figures 19 through 21, appendix E. The aircraft responded in the proper direction within 0.2 second after the input and no objectionable coupling was noted. The JOH-58C had increased yaw rate damping as compared to the standard OH-58C (ref 8, app A). Directional response was satisfactory and no tendency to overcontrol was noted. At the heavy gross weights tested, insufficient power margin required constant attention to torque limits with large (+1 inch) but smooth control movement to arrest right yaw rate. The directional controllability characteristics of the JOH-58C are satisfactory.

Longitudinal:

19. The longitudinal controllability characteristics of the JOH-58C were evaluated at a hover and at 90 knots calibrated airspeed (KCAS) at the conditions listed in table 1. Longitudinal controllability data are presented in figures 22 through 25, appendix E. The aircraft responded in the appropriate direction within 0.2 sec with no objectionable coupling. With inputs up to approximately 2 inches, the longitudinal response was sufficiently damped, resulting in a shorter time required to achieve a steady state rate. The pilot will have predictable and adequate longitudinal control response and will not have to focus increased attention on pitch attitude control. The longitudinal control-lability characteristics of the JOH-58C are satisfactory.

Lateral:

20. Lateral controllability characteristics of the JOH-58C were evaluated at a hover and at 89 KCAS at the conditions listed in table 1. Lateral controllability data are presented in figures 26 and 27, appendix E. The aircraft responded in the appropriate direction within 0.2 sec with no objectionable coupling. The aircraft exhibits predictable lateral response primarily because of the quick achievement of steady state rates in response to control displacement. The lateral response of the JOH-58C was qualitatively more damped than the standard OH-58C. The lateral controllability characteristics of the JOH-58C are satisfactory.

Low Speed Flight Characteristics

General:

21. Low speed flight characteristics were evaluated to determine the effects on handling qualities due to the installation of the SAS and the improved tail rotor. The low speed flight testing was conducted by stabilizing in formation with a ground pace vehicle at a skid height of approximately 10 feet at relative azimuths (measured clockwise from the nose of the aircraft) from 0 degrees to 360 degrees in 30 degree increments. The low speed flight characteristics for this aircraft can be discussed by reference to one of three regions (fig. A): 300 degrees clockwise to 150 degrees (region A), 150 degrees clockwise to 210 degrees (region B) and 210 degrees clockwise to 300 degrees (region C).



Figure A. Low Speed Flight Regions

22. Low speed handling characteristics were evaluated by maintaining the aircraft within ± 3 degrees of desired heading and ± 2 feet of desired skid height (evaluation performance criteria). Low speed flight was conducted SAS ON and OFF at the test conditions shown in table 1. Low speed flight characteristics data are presented in figures 28 through 60, appendix E. Low speed flight was conducted in the LCH configuration for quantitative and qualitative data, then qualitatively evaluated in the modified clean configuration. The handling qualities characteristics for both configurations were essentially the same.

Region A:

23. With the improved tail rotor and SAS ON, handling qualities ratings in Region A (up to approximately 5000 ft) were improved from HQRS 3 in the standard OH-58C (ref 8, app A) to HQRS 2 in that little or no directional control inputs were required to maintain desired heading within <u>+1</u> degree. At the 90 degree azimuth, the standard OH-58C (with a smaller diameter tail rotor) had less than 10% directional control margin remaining (reported deficiency) at 31 KTAS and 5000 ft. At similar conditions, the JOH-58C had more than 20% margin remaining at 35 KTAS (fig 43, app E). At the 120 deg azimuth and at airspeeds of 25 KTAS and above, the average longitudinal control margin was adequate. Momentary control excursions decreased this control margin to below 10%, but never less than one inch (fig. 45, app E). The low speed handling qualities of the JOH-58C aircraft in Region A are satisfactory.

Region B:

24. In Region B, handling qualities ratings were improved from HQRS 5 (standard OH-58C) to HQRS 3 in that minimal directional control inputs (+1/8-inch) were required to maintain the desired performance criteria. The large aft longitudinal control displacement during rearward flight between 10 to 20 KTAS was similar to that required for the standard OH-58C. At near maximum gross weight and up to 4670 feet density altitude (figs. 48 through 51, app E) less than 10% (1.2 inches) aft longitudinal control margin remained at rearward (180-210 deg) airspeeds of 17 KTAS and above (worse than the standard OH-58C). The less than 10% longitudinal control margin of the JOH-58C at airspeeds above 17 KTAS between azimuths of 180 and 210 deg is a deficiency. The longitudinal control margin at azimuths of 180 to 210 deg failed to meet the intent of paragraph 3.2.1 of MIL-H-8501A in that less than 10% longitudinal control margin remained. The following CAUTION should be incorporated into the airworthiness release and/or the operator's manual:

CAUTION

When hovering with tailwinds greater than 17 knots and a forward center of gravity, less than 10% longitudinal control margin may be available.

Region C:

25. In left sideward flight (Region C) the SAS and improved tail rotor system reduced the +8 degrees yaw attitude excursions of the standard OH-58C (ref 8, app A) to approximately +3 degrees. Handling qualities ratings were improved from HQRS 7 (standard OH-58C) to HQRS 4 due to reduced frequency and amplitude of control inputs required in all axes. Critical azimuth and airspeed, determined by pilot workload, was approximately 240 degrees at 15 to 25 KTAS. Figure 28, appendix E presents data at the 240 degree azimuth and 21 KTAS. Large SAS actuator inputs (sometimes saturated) as well as moderate and frequent control inputs in all axes (+1/2-inch) were required (HQRS 4) to maintain desired performance criteria. The SAS and improved tail rotor system significantly improved the overall low speed flight characteristics of the JOH-58C in Region C, however, workload remains high at the critical azimuth and airspeed. The high pilot workload at 240 degrees relative azimuth from 15 to 25 KTAS during low speed flight is a shortcoming.

SAS OFF Flight:

26. Certain portions of low speed flight were conducted SAS OFF. Data are presented in figure 33, appendix E. Larger and more frequent control inputs were required for all azimuths and airspeeds tested than were required with SAS ON. There was no artificial rate damping with SAS OFF, which was especially apparent in the yaw axis. The directional control was qualitatively more sensitive than the standard OH-58C. The pilots were accustomed to flying with an augmented flight control system and, when required to fly unaugmented, over-controlled the aircraft, resulting in pilot-induced oscillations of up to +6 degrees. Time to adapt to the degraded mode will vary from pilot to pilot, depending on how accustomed he is to flying SAS OFF. SAS OFF flight is a degraded mode and should be incorporated in the aviator's annual Aircrew Training Manual (ATM) evaluation and performed periodically as an ATM maneuver. The following NOTE should be incorporated into the airworthiness release and/ or the operator's manual:

SAS OFF flight is a degraded mode and may result in attitude excursions of +6 degrees in all axes. These excursions should decrease as the pilot becomes accustomed to SAS OFF flight.

Yaw Oscillation:

27. With SAS ON, A yaw oscillation was noticed during low speed flight and was frequently evident at all azimuths and speeds. It was also present in forward flight, but most noticeable in low speed flight. Heading excursions of +1 to +2 degrees during low speed flight were experienced once this mode was excited. Heading excursions in level flight decreased with increased airspeed to approximately +1/2 to +1 degree at 90 knots indicated airspeed (KIAS). A time history to illustrate this oscillation is presented in figure 29, appendix E. The data indicate that the SAS was driving this oscillation. This high frequency (period of 1.5 sec) small amplitude oscillation became aggravated in amplitude when the pilot tried to maintain more precise heading control. Several times the pilot contributed to this oscillation so that heading control could only be maintained within +3 degrees. In many cases, yaw oscillations damped after approximately 15 seconds if the pilot held the controls fixed and let the SAS attitude retention feature dampen out oscillations. The occasional yaw oscillation is a shortcoming. Recommend further optimization be conducted to eliminate this yaw oscillation.

Aircraft System Failures

Simulated Engine Failure:

28. Simulated engine failures were evaluated at the conditions listed in table 1. Data are presented in figure 61, appendix E. Sudden engine failures were simulated ty stabilizing at the test conditions and then rapidly reducing the throttle to flight idle. All flight controls were held fixed for approximately two seconds or until recovery was required (due to low rotor speed, excessive rates, attitudes, etc.). The predominant cues of an engine failure were the aircraft rotor RPM light and audio warning signals. Only $7-1/2^{\circ}$ of yaw attitude excursions from trim were observed. Delay times of 2.0 seconds could not be achieved due to rapid decrease of rotor speed at the high gross weights tested. Following reduction of the collective control, rotor speed increased rapidly to safe levels. Except for the smaller yaw attitude

excursions, these characteristics are similar to those of a standard OH-58C. The SAS prevented the normal large yaw excursions which occurred in a simulated engine failure, but the other cues (audio, visual, reduced engine noise, etc.) remained adequate to advise the pilot of a sudden engine failure. The simulated engine failure characteristics of the JOH-58C are satisfactory. The simulated engine failure characteristics of the JOH-58C failed to meet the requirement of paragraph 3.5.5 of MIL-H-8501A in that delay times of 2.0 seconds could not be achieved prior to initiation of recovery.

Hydraulic System Failure:

29. Hydraulic system failures were qualitatively evaluated at the conditions listed in table 1. Failures were simulated by turning the HYD BOOST switch to the OFF position. With the standard OH-58C, as the aircraft is slowed below the airspeed for effective translational lift (ETL) with hydraulics OFF, there is an increased level of pilot-induced oscillations in all three axes (particularly noticeable in roll). In the JOH-58C, the pilot-induced oscillations were still apparent $(+1 \text{ to } +3^\circ, \text{ all }$ axes), but much reduced. Pedal forces were qualitatively higher than those on the standard OH-58C. Control forces in all axes were moderate when hydraulics were failed at 80 KIAS and the aircraft was decelerated to 50 KIAS. The first indication of a failure was illumination of the MASTER CAUTION light and HYD PRESS caution light, followed by slight control feedback when the controls were moved. An approach to a hover was accomplished, but the small power margin, increased oscillations, large control movements and high control forces made precise control of the aircraft difficult (HQRS 5). The pilot will be able to continue his mission only if he maintains airspeeds above that required for ETL. In the event of hydraulic failure, the optimum recovery procedure should remain a run-on landing as prescribed in the of cator's manual (ref 5, app A). The handling qualities of the JOH-58C with a simulated hydraulics failure are satisfactory for degraded mode operation.

Stability Augmentation System Failures:

30. Simulated SAS failures were evaluated at the conditions listed in table 1. SAS actuator hardovers were introduced into the system using a SFENA SAS hardover control unit. Single-axis SAS hardovers were accomplished in all three axes. Hardovers were induced when actuators were centered (as indicated by the SAS actuator position indicators in the cockpit). Delay times of up to three seconds during level flight and up to one second delays for hover and low speed flight were evaluated. Total system failure was simulated by removing power from the SAS. Time history data obtained from these tests are presented in figures 62 through 70, appendix E.

31. SAS actuator hardovers conducted during a hover with zero time delay produced mild aircraft reactions in all axes. Generally, only a bump (similar to a gust) could be felt when the hardover was injected. Minimal pilot control inputs (+1/2 inch) were required to maintain aircraft attitudes within +2 degrees (HQRS 3). A one second delay produced a 28 deg/sec yaw rate, 14 deg/sec roll rate or a 7 deg/sec pitch rate after the hardover in the respective axis (figs. 65 through 67). These rates produced attitude changes which were not considered excessive and normal pilot reaction was adequate to effect recovery. All aircraft reactions with a one second delay provided adequate cues to the pilot that a SAS hardover had occurred. Hardovers with zero time delay were also conducted with a pilot wearing night vision goggles (NVG) with day filters. The pilot was frequently unaware that a hardover had occurred. Initial accelerations provided inadequate cues that a hardover had occurred. No significant rates or attitude changes developed since the pilot reacted instantaneously. SAS hardover characteristics of the JOH-58C in a hover are satisfactory.

32. SAS hardovers during low speed flight at the critical azimuth/ speed were also accomplished (figs. 68 through 70, app E). With zero delay time, the aircraft produced mild reactions which were similar to those produced with zero time delay at a hover (para 31). The initial acceleration provided inadequate cues that a hardover had occurred. No significant rates or attitude changes developed and minimum pilot compensation was required to maintain heading and attitude criteria. SAS hardover characteristics during low speed flight at the critical azimuth/speed are satisfactory.

33. SAS actuator hardovers conducted at 90 KCAS in level flight resulted in only mild aircraft reaction in the pitch and yaw axes (figs. 62 through 64, app E). After 3 seconds, attitude changes were approximately 5 degrees. The moderate angular acceleration and attitude changes provided adequate cues that a failure or hardover had occurred. The highest rates were produced in the roll axis, where rates of 20 deg/sec were achieved (fig. 63). The initial rapid acceleration (18 to 20 deg/sec²) and high roll rate prompted the pilot to recover after 2.5 seconds as the aircraft passed 35 degrees of bank. The aircraft continued to 40 degrees before the roll rate was arrested. Normal proprioceptive and visual cues alerted the pilot that a SAS hardover had occurred. Under all conditions tested, recovery was accomplished with minimal pilot compensation. Hardovers were also conducted while the pilot was wearing NVG with day filters. The pilot was allowed to react normally (with no delay time) and was unaware at times that a SAS failure had occurred. The initial acceleration provided inadequate cues that a hardover had occurred. No significant rates or attitude changes developed since the pilot reacted instantaneously. Pilot reaction to a SAS hardover required minimal compensation. Aircraft control was not a problem in any of these tests. The simulated SAS hardover characteristics of the JOH-58C helicopter in level flight are satisfactory. The SAS hardover characteristics of the JOH-58C in level flight failed to meet the requirements of paragraph 3.5.8 of MIL-H-8501A in that roll rates exceeded 10 deg/sec in less than 3 seconds.

34. SAS OFF flight was conducted during several tests to determine the flight characteristics during this degraded mode. SAS OFF during low speed flight was discussed in paragraph 26. SAS OFF flight during hover, level flight, low speed flight and loss of tail rotor effectiveness (LTE) tests was characterized by larger and more frequent control inputs than were required with SAS ON. In many cases, with zero time delay, there were no cues to the pilot that a total or partial SAS failure had occurred, except that attitude excursions increased in all axes (paras 3) through 33). The yaw axis was qualitatively more sensitive. Overcontrol of the aircraft resulted in oscillations in all axes of ± 3 degrees at the higher speeds (above 60 KIAS) and +6 degrees at a hover, low speed and LTE tests. The excursions decreased as the pilot became accustomed to SAS OFF flight. Aircraft control was not in question but the pilot workload for SAS OFF flight was significantly increased. There was no SAS failure advisory light available to the pilot to indicate to him that a total or partial failure had occurred. Recommend that a SAS failure advisory light be installed in the JOH-58C aircraft to indicate when a total or partial failure occurs.

Loss of Tail Rotor Effectiveness

35. Tail rotor effectiveness was evaluated SAS ON and OFF by flying the three maneuvers shown in figure B. A time history of maneuver B is presented in figure 71, appendix E. The pilot workload and control movements were significantly less than those required with SAS OFF (fig. 72). Loss of tail rotor effectiveness did not occur during any of the tests. Although this was not an in-depth investigation of LTE, the SAS and improved tail rotor should assist in reducing the yaw rates that are conducive to LTE.





e'

i I

Maneuver B. Right Turn to Hover in Crosswind



Maneuver C. Right Tura to Downwind Figure B. Loss of Tail Rotor Effectiveness Maneuvers

Mission Maneuvers

36. Mission maneuvers were evaluated qualitatively at the conditions presented in table 1. The maneuvers were conducted in accordance with the ATM and were evaluated SAS ON and OFF. Pilot workload increased with the SAS OFF for all maneuvers conducted. Aircraft controllability was not in question, but SAS OFF flight required considerable pilot compensation to maintain the ATM standards of each maneuver. SAS ON flight, however, significantly reduced pilot workload which enhanced mission capability. Slope landings, masking/unmasking and nap-of-theearth flight were significantly easier to accomplish since rate damping provided reduced aircraft attitude excursions. Pilots felt that they could maneuver the aircraft more aggressively without fear that aircraft rates would exceed the aircraft's capability. The mission maneuver characteristics of the JOH-58C helicopter with a three-axis SAS significantly improved mission capability, but high control forces (para 9) will be fatiguing. To relieve high forces during maneuvering flight, the pilot may turn the force trim system off, thus eliminating the attitude retention feature of the SAS or repeatedly depress the force trim interrupt, increasing his workload. Consideration should be given to installing the SAS and improved tail rotor on all OH-58C helicopters.

Instrument Flight Evalution

37. Handling qualities of the JOH-58C in simulated instrument meteorological conditions (IMC) were evaluated at the conditions listed in table 1. IMC were simulated by having the pilot wear a hood which restricted his field of view to the interior of the cockpit. In IMC flight (altitude changes, level flight, turns, etc.), the stability provided by the SAS significantly reduced the pilot workload in maintaining basic aircraft attitudes. The altitude hold (ALT HOLD) feature further reduced workload in In level flight, the aircraft was easily maintaining altitude. kept within 50 feet of the desired altitude and +1 to +2 degrees of desired attitudes with no pilot inputs on the collective or pedals and inputs no larger than 1/2 inch on the cyclic control (HORS 3). The aircraft was not tested for certification under instrument flight rules. However, in inadvertent IMC, with the improved stability of the JOH-58C the pilot will be able to devote less of his time and attention to basic flying and will instead be able to concentrate on IMC recovery. The ALT HOLD feature of the JOH-58C is an enhancing characteristic in inadvertent IMC flight.

CONCLUSIONS

GENERAL

38. The following conclusions were reached upon completion of testing.

a. The flying qualities of the JOH-58C were significantly improved in comparison to the standard OH-58C.

b. One deficiency and four shortcomings were identified.

ENHANCING CHARACTERISTIC

39. The following enhancing characteristic was identified: ALT HOLD feature of JOH-58C in inadvertent IMC flight (para 37).

DEFICIENCY

40. The following deficiency was identified. Less than 10% longitudinal control margin at airspeeds above 17 KTAS between azimuths of 180 and 210 degrees (para 24).

SHORTCOMINGS

41. The following shortcomings were identified:

a. High pilot workload at the critical azimuth in low speed flight (para 25).

b. Occasional yaw oscillation at low speeds (para 27).

c. Pitch up divergence ("dig in" tendency) at load factors near 1.3g at cruise airspeeds (para 14).

d. Large longitudinal trim control displacement band and high control forces (para 9).

SPECIFICATION COMPLIANCE

42. The JOH-58C failed to meet the following requirements of MIL-H-8501A:

a. Paragraph 3.2.1 - less than 10% longitudinal control margin (180 to 210 deg) (para 24).

b. Paragraph 3.2.7 - longitudinal breakout including friction force exceeded the maximum allowable (para 9).

c. Paragraph 3.2.10 - the longitudinal control position stability near trim cruise airspeeds was not positive (para 12).

d. Paragaraph 3.3.10 - no positive self-centering characteristics for the directional control system (para 10).

e. Paragaraph 3.5.5 - delay times of 2.0 seconds could not be achieved during simulated sudden engine failure (para 28).

f. Paragaraph 3.5.8 - SAS hardover roll rates exceeded 10 deg/sec in less than 3.0 sec (para 33).

RECOMMENDATIONS

43. The deficiency reported in paragaraph 40 should be corrected prior to operational deployment of JOH-58C.

44. The shortcomings reported in paragraph 41 should be corrected as soon as possible.

45. The following CAUTION should be added to the airworthiness release and/or the operator's manual (para 24) until the correction of the deficiency reported in paragraph 40.

CAUTION

When hovering with tailwinds greater than 17 knots and a forward center of gravity, less than 10% longitudinal control margin may be available.

46. The following NOTE should be added to the airworthiness release and/or the operator's manual (para 26).

NOTE

SAS OFF flight is a degraded mode and may result in attitude excursions of +6 degrees in all axes. These excursions should decrease as the pilot becomes accustomed to SAS OFF flight.

47. Recommend optimization of the SAS to eliminate the yaw oscillation (para 27).

48. Recommend a SAS failure advisory light be installed in the JOH-58C to indicate a total or partial SAS failure (para 34).

49. SAS OFF flight is a degraded mode and should be incorporated in the aviator's annual Aircrew Training Manual evaluation (para 26).

APPENDIX A. REFERENCES

1. Letter, AVSCOM, AMSAV-E, 16 February 1983, with revision 5 dated 17 December 1984, subject: Airworthiness Release for Flight Operation of JOH-58C Helicopter S/N 70-15349 in the Light Combat Helicopter (LCH) Configuration.

2. Letter, AVSCOM, AMSAV-ED, 5 February 1985, subject: Airworthiness and Flight Characteristics Evaluation of the JOH-58C (OH-58X Surrogate) Helicopter. (Test Request)

3. Test Plan, USAAEFA Project No. 85-03, Airworthiness and Flight Characteristics Evaluation of the JOH-58C (OH-58X Surrogate) Helicopter, March 1985

4. Test Plan, USAAEFA Project No. 85-03, Airworthiness and Flight Characteristics Evaluation of the JOH-58C (OH-58X Surrogate) Helicopter, Revision 1, October 1985.

5. Operator's Manual, TM 55-1520-235-10, *Army OH-58C Helicopter*, 7 April 1978, with change 35, 17 February 1984.

6. Military Specification, MIL-H-8501A, Helicopter Flying and Ground Handling qualities; General Requirements for, 7 September 1961, with amendment 1, 3 April 1962.

7. Flight Test Manual, Naval Air Test Center, FTM No. 101, Stability and Control, 10 June 1968.

8. Final Report, USAAEFA Project No. 76-11-2, Airworthiness and Flight Characteristics Evaluation of the OH-58C Interim Scout Helicopter, April 1979.

9. Aviation Unit and Intermediate Maintenance Manual, OH-58A and OH-58C, TM 55-1520-228-23-1, dated 4 August 1978, with change 39, 1 December 1985.

APPENDIX B. AIRCRAFT DESCRIPTION

GENERAL

1. The test helicopter, JOH-58C US S/N 70-15349, was a standard OH-58C (built by Bell Helicopter Textron, Inc. (BHTI)), modified to the light combat helicopter (LCH) configuration. The standard OH-58C has a single two-bladed, semi-rigid, teetering-type main rotor and а single two-bladed, delta-hinged, semi-rigid, teetering-type tail rotor. A detailed description of the OH-58C is included in the operator's manual (ref 5, app A). The major aircraft modifications for the LCH configuration included the Bell 206L-3 tail rotor with accompanying drive shafting and gearbox, shortened main rotor blades and a three-axis limited authority stability augmentation system (SAS). The JOH-58C LCH configuration also included pods for Direct View Optics (DVO) and a Forward Looking Infrared (FLIR) system, a High Frequency (HF) antenna and improved communication and navigation avionics. Photo 1 shows the test aircraft with external mission equipment. Photos 2 through 4 show the DVO, FLIR and HF antenna. Most of the internally mounted mission equipment was not installed for the test, due to test instrumentation requirements. Portions of the test were accomplished with the DVO, FLIR and HF antenna removed (modified clean configuration). Photo 5 shows the modified clean configuration. A more detailed description of the LCH modifications is contained in the airworthiness release (ref 1).

WEIGHT AND BALANCE

2. The test helicopter was weighed in the LCH and modified clean configurations with and without fuel by the US Army Aviation Engineering Flight Activity personnel prior to any testing. The weight and longitudinal center of gravity (cg) data are presented below:

| Configuration | Empty Fuel Weight (1b)/cg (fs) | Full Fuel Weight (1b)/cg (fs) | |
|----------------|-----------------------------------|----------------------------------|--|
| LCH | 2537/113.70 | 3063/115.00 | |
| Modified clean | 2438/116.05 | 2964/116.52 | |

Control Rigging

3. A complete flight control rigging check was performed by SFENA Corporation and witnessed by USAAEFA quality control personnel prior to the initiation of testing. All flight control rigging









Photo 4. Externally Mounted High Frequency (HF) Antenna



was within tolerances specified in reference 9, appendix A. The data for the 206L-3 tail rotor rigging check is presented below:

| | Direction | Blade Angle |
|-------------------|-----------|-------------|
| 206L-3 tail rotor | Left | 22° 30' |
| | Right | -7° 30' |

ROTOR SYSTEM

Tail Rotor

4. The improved tail rotor (BHTI 206L-3 tail rotor) is depicted in photo 6. It incorporates the same airfoil section as the standard OH-58C tail rotor but the diameter is increased by 3 inches. Maximum pitch angle values are increased to the values shown in paragraph 3.

5. SAS optimization was conducted by SFENA Corporation. Various SAS gains and two actuator systems (electrical/mechanical and electrical/hydraulic) were evaluated. The electrical/hydraulic system (hydraulically-boosted tail rotor) was selected by SFENA and installed for this test.

Tail Rotor Drive Shaft and Gearbox

6. The tail rotor drive shafting and gearbox were changed to the 206L-3 configuration. The drive shaft is a seven piece shaft. Each piece in the shaft is identical and has a larger diameter than the one-piece standard drive shaft. The tail rotor gearbox continuous rating is increased from 65 to 85 shaft horsepower.

Main Rotor

7. In order to maintain main rotor clearance, each main rotor tip cap was shortened by 1.5 inches.

STABILITY AUGMENTATION SYSTEM

General

8. The JOH-58C had a limited-authority, prototype three-axis SAS. The SAS uses rate gyros to provide rate damping in each axis. Rate integration was used to provide attitude retention capability. Force trim is provided in the pitch and roll axes. An altitude hold (ALT HOLD) feature, functioning through the


longitudinal control, is also provided in cruise flight. The system includes the following components:

| SAS Component | Part No. | Qty | Location |
|------------------------|---------------|-----|-----------------------|
| SAS Computer | 75258V1M2 | 3 | Passenger compartment |
| Cyclic rod/actuator | | 2 | Center control closet |
| Assy | 10110-001 | | |
| Directional rod/ | | | |
| actuator assy | 10110-001 | 1 | Entrance to tail boom |
| Air data computer | 10980-002 | 1 | Passenger compartment |
| Junction Box | 153-51219-300 | 1 | Passenger compartment |
| Yaw Stop Assy | 11530 | 1 | Entrance to tail boom |
| Force trim unit | | 2 | Under pilot/copilot |
| Pitch | L1088BM | | seat |
| Roll | L1088DM | | |
| SAS control panel | K28AJM | 1 | Instrument panel |
| Pre-Fabricated Harness | | 1 | Passenger compartment |
| Cyclic | 11362 | | |
| Yaw | 11368 | | |
| 50 VA Inverter | PC 50 | 1 | Under pilot's seat |
| Hydraulic/boosted | | 1 | Entrance to tail boom |
| T/R/Assy | 206-001-739-7 | | |
| Actuator Position | | | |
| Indicator | K60ACM | 1 | Instrument panel |

The preceding components are interconnected as shown by the block diagram of figure 1.

SAS Computer

9. A SAS computer for each axis incorporates logic and gain networks to provide rate damping, altitude hold (pitch axis), integration cutoff and attitude retention via rate integration. A rate gyro in each computer senses changes of angular rate of 0.01 deg/sec.

Control Panel

10. The SAS control panel is shown in photo 7. The panel includes a STAB button (SAS ON/OFF), a button to engage altitude hold, switches to engage or disengage each SAS actuator and a system test switch. SAS actuator positions are indicated on three galvanometers, one for each axis.







Photo 7. Stability Augmentation System Control Panel

Electrical Power Distribution

11. The SAS power distribution is shown in figure 1. The system requires 28V DC, 26V AC and 115V AC single phase electrical power. The 115V AC, 400 Hz, single phase power, provided by the upgraded solid state inverter, is for the rate gyro motor and for the computer internal power supplies. The rate gyro output signal is demodulated and applied to a servo amplifier which drives the rate and integrated rate (damping and attitude retention) channels. Both paths are switched OFF when the system is off, resulting in a zero signal to the servo amplifier and centering of the actuator. The actuators are mounted in control tubes and contain DC permanent magnet motors driven by a pulse-width modulating type of servo-amplifier. The $\pm 27V$ motor drive voltages and the $\pm 15V$ feedback pot excitation voltages are derived in the computer power supply.

Actuators

12. The SAS uses three actuators mounted in series with the control tubes. The actuators have low force output and are used in conjunction with hydraulically-boosted controls. They are installed as close as possible to the input valves of the hydraulic boosters to isolate the actuator motion from the pilot controls. The mass and friction on the booster side of the actuators is low compared to the pilot's side of the actuators. Cyclic artificial feel break-out force aids in this isolation. In cyclic, the actuators are installed downstream of the mechanical collective and cyclic mixing and the two cyclic actuators have a mixed motion of lateral and longitudinal control. This mixing is accomplished electronically by applying the roll computer output differentially to the left and right actuators while the pitch computer output is applied additively to the two actuators. The SAS actuator strokes are limited to give the following SAS authorities of full control travel:

| Axis | Authority | | |
|-------|-----------|--|--|
| pitch | +6.43% | | |
| roll | +10.67% | | |

| yaw | <u>+6.79</u> | € |
|-----|--------------|---|
| | | |

SAS Release Switch

13. A SAS release switch is located on the pilot cyclic grip as shown in figure 2. If the switch is depressed, all axes of SAS will disengage.





Force Trim System

14. The force trim system includes a force trim switch located on the instrument panel and a force trim interrupt switch located on the pilot's and copilot's cyclic (fig. 2). There is no force trim system in the directional axis. The functions include stick trim point retention, artificial feel gradient for stick movements away from trim, and viscous damping of stick inputs. Transparency ("fly through") logic interfaces with the SAS attitude retention channels.

Flight Control System Caution Light

15. A flight control system (FCS) caution light is provided in the segmented caution panel (fig. 3). When the FCS is disengaged, the series actuators automatically center and the FCS caution light illuminates. The FCS light does not illuminate, however, if a SAS failure should occur.

Altitude Hold Function

16. An altitude hold function is installed in the SAS. The altitude error signal is derived in the Air Data Computer (ADC) from an electromechanical absolute pressure transducer and an associated electronics synchronizing hold circuit. The error signal is applied to additional circuitry in the controller, resulting in longitudinal control inputs in response to altitude errors. The altitude hold function is designed to maintain altitude within +50 feet in light or no turbulence. The system is engaged when the "ALT" switch is turned on with the aircraft above 40 knots airspeed.

Integration Cut Off

17. To enable the pilot to maneuver the aircraft, it is necessary to inhibit the attitude retention feature, which may try to oppose pilot inputs. This is done by driving the integrated rate input term to zero as the pilot commences his movement of the flight controls. The rate term is retained, however, and continues to damp out rapid oscillations over and above the pilot's control movements. Cancelling the integrated rate term is called integration cut off (ICO). ICO occurs intentionally under the following conditions.

a. When "altitude hold" mode is engaged (ICO only in the pitch axis).



Figure 3. FCS Caution Light

b. When the pilot moves the flight controls, without operating the force trim button on the cyclic grip (the axes affected are the ones in which the control movement is made).

c. When the pilot depresses the force trim button on the cyclic grip.

d. When the force trim is disengaged at the instrument panel.

e. When angular rates exceed 1.5 deg/sec, ICO will occur only in the affected axis.

SYSTEM OPERATION

General

18. SAS operation is accomplished using the SAS control panel and actuator position indicators shown in photo 7.

Self-Test

19. Prior to flight, a system self-test may be performed. Individual axis engagement switches should be up. With the SAS OFF, the TEST knob is turned clockwise to the position labeled "1". The STAB indicator will show green and white diagonal stripes, the ALT indictor will show red and white diagonal stripes. The FCS caution light will illuminate and the three actuator position indicators will be centered. Position "1" tests only the system indicators. When the TEST knob is turned further clockwise to "2", the STAB and ALT indicators are initial-ly black. Position "2" tests the system amplifiers and input/ output logic. When the STAB indicator is depressed, the green and white stripes reappear. Depressing the ALT indicator results in a display of red and white stripes alternating with the blacked-out indication for approximately 10 seconds. The ALT indicator then becomes a steady display of green and white diagonal stripes. The FCS caution light remains illuminated and the actuator position indicators remain centered. When the test knob is rotated counter-clockwise to the "O" position, the STAB indicator remains green, the ALT indicator becomes black and the FCS caution light extinguishes. The SAS is then operational for flight.

Normal Operation

20. The SAS operates normally when the STAB indicator is depressed and individual actuator engagement switches are up. Green and white diagonal stripes appear in the STAB indicator, indicating that power is applied to the system and rate damping is in effect. Attitude retention will be in effect in all axes unless one of the following conditions occurs:

a. If the force trim switch on the console is turned off, there will be no attitude retention in any axis. Turning it on will regain all attitude retention.

b. If either cyclic force trim interrupt switch is depressed, there will be no attitude retention in the pitch and roll axes. Yaw attitude retention will not be affected.

c. If the pedals are moved, a control motion sensor detects the movement and eliminates yaw attitude retention. Pitch and roll attitude retention will not be affected.

d. If airspeed is above 40 knots indicated airspeed (KIAS), lateral cyclic is displaced and roll rate is above 1.5 deg/sec, there will be no attitude retention in any axis.

e. If airspeed is above 40 KIAS, roll rate is above 1.5 deg/sec and the lateral cyclic is not displaced, there will be no pitch or yaw attitude retention.

f. If ALT HOLD is engaged and the aircraft is beyond $100\,$ feet of the selected altitude, there will be no pitch attitude retention.

Altitude Hold

21. The altitude hold feature is engaged by depressing the ALT indicator. Green and white diagonal stripes should appear in the indicator. The ALT HOLD can be engaged in climbs and descents as well as in level flight or turns as long as airspeed is above 40 KIAS. Altitude is maintained through variation of pitch attitude. It disengages automatically when altitude is more than 100 feet from the selected altitude. The ALT HOLD is disengaged by depressing the ALT HOLD indicator. Disengaging ALT HOLD causes the MASTER CAUTION and FCS caution light to illuminate for 10 to 12 sec.

FCS Light

22. The FCS caution light and master caution light illuminate momentarily when the SAS is disengaged. Both also momentarily illuminate when the ALT HOLD is engaged and the aircraft is more than 100 feet from the selected altitude. The FCS light does not illuminate when the SAS fails.

SAS Shutdown

23. The SAS is disengaged by depressing the STAB indicator. The SAS can also be disengaged by depressing the SAS release switch on the pilot's cyclic (fig. 2). Disengagement does not remove power from system gyroscopes.

Degraded Flight

24. With a hardover in any actuator, the SAS will continue to provide rate damping and attitude retention in the other axes. If the yaw actuator has a hardover, pitch and roll will respond normally. If the left or right cyclic actuator has a hardover, yaw will respond normally, but pitch and roll will be slightly degraded due to system control mixing. Individual actuators can be disengaged using the individual actuator engagement switches. Yaw is disengaged with the yaw actuator engagement switch. The pitch and roll actuator engagement switches disengage the right and left cyclic actuator indicators.

APPENDIX C. INSTRUMENTATION

1. The test instrumentation system was designed, calibrated, installed, and maintained by the US Army Aviation Engineering Flight Activity. Digital and analog data were obtained from calibrated instrumentation and were recorded on magnetic tape and/or displayed in the cockpit. The instrumentation system consisted of various transducers, signal conditioning units, a ten-bit pulse code modulation encoder, and an Ampex AR 700 tape recorder. Time correlation was accomplished with an onboardrecorded and -displayed Inter-Range Instrumentation Group B format time of day. Various specialized test indicators displayed data to the pilot and engineer continuously during the flight. A boom with the following sensors was mounted on the nose of the aircraft: swiveling pitot-static head, sideslip vane and angle-of-attack vane. Photos 1 through 4 show the instrumentation installation. The boom airspeed system calibration is shown in figures l through 3.

2. The following parameters were displayed on calibrated instruments in the cockpit:

Airspeed (boom) Airspeed (ship's system) Altitude (boom) Altitude (ship's system) Rotor speed Engine torque Turbine outlet temperature Fuel flow rate Fuel used (totalizer) Outside air temperature Normal acceleration Angle-of-sideslip Time of day Record counter

3. The following parameters were recorded on magnetic tape:

Time code Run number Fuel used Airspeed (boom) Altitude (boom) Airspeed (ship) Altitude (ship) Main rotor speed Outside air temperature Angle of sideslip Angle of attack















Engine torque Turbine outlet temperature Gas producer speed Power turbine output shaft speed Fuel flow rate Control positions Longitudinal Lateral Directional Collective Aircraft attitudes and rates Pitch Roll Yaw Aircraft vertical center of gravity acceleration SAS actuator positions Left hand cyclic Right hand cyclic Directional

sococo la la canaca

APPENDIX D. TEST TECHNIQUES AND DATA ANALYSIS METHODS

HANDLING QUALITIES

Test Techniques

1. Stability and control data were collected and evaluated using standard test methods as described in reference 7, appendix A. Definitions of deficiencies and shortcomings used during this test are shown below.

a. Deficiency. A defect or malfunction discovered during the life cycle of an item of equipment that constitutes a safety hazard to personnel; will result in serious damage to the equipment if operation is continued; or indicates improper design or other cause of failure of an item or part, which seriously impairs the equipment's operational capability.

b. Shortcoming. An imperfection or malfunction occurring during the life cycle of equipment which must be reported and which should be corrected to increase efficiency and to render the equipment completely serviceable. It will not cause an immediate breakdown, jeopardize safe operation, or materially reduce the usability of the material or end product.

AIRSPEED CALIBRATION

2. The boom and ship's pitot-static system was calibrated using the trailing bomb method to determine the airspeed position error. Calibrated airspeed (V_{cal}) was obtained by correcting indicated airspeed (V_i) using instrument (V_{ic}) and position (V_{pc}) error corrections.

$$V_{cal} = V_i + \Delta V_{ic} + \Delta V_{pc} \tag{1}$$

Weight and Balance

USUCADUGUGUG

3. Prior to testing, the aircraft gross weight and center of gravity (cg) location were determined using calibrated scales. The aircraft was weighed with full instrumentation on board and without fuel. The aircraft weight was 2537 pounds with a longitudinal cg location at fuselage station 113.70. After removal of the Forward-Looking Infrared System, Direct View Optics and High Frequency Antenna, the aircraft was reweighed and the weight was 2438 pounds with a longitudinal cg at fuselage station 116.05.

HANDLING QUALITIES RATING SCALE

4. The Handling Qualities Rating Scale presented in figure 1 was used to augment pilot comments relative to handling qualities and workload.

VIBRATION RATING SCALE

5. The Vibration Rating Scale presented in figure 2 was used to augment pilot comments relative to vibrations.







59555000

1.5

Figure 2. Vibration Rating Scale

53

APPENDIX E. TEST DATA

INDEX

Figure

٩,

1

.

1. 1. A. A.

Figure Number

| Control System Characteristics | 1 through 4 |
|---|---------------|
| Control Positions in Trimmed Forward Flight | 5 through 8 |
| Static Longitudinal Stability | 9 and 10 |
| Static Lateral-Directional Stability | 11 and 12 |
| Maneuvering Stability | 13 |
| Dynamic Stability | 14 through 18 |
| Controllability | 19 through 27 |
| Low Speed Flight | 28 through 60 |
| Simulated Engine Failure | 61 |
| Stability Augmentation Failure | 62 through 70 |
| Loss of Tail Rotor Effectiveness | 71 and 72 |



Q,

6.533

55

Women Co





1.5







ľ












È.



i

S.S. 1. 55 (S.S.

SAS ON MODIFIED CLEAN CONFIGURATION <u></u> 2 - 2 -NOTES Ļφ PLIGH CONDITION LEVEL σ TRIM CALTBRATED AURSPEED GCNOTS) 90 m - SECONDS Margares Mar U L FIGURE 14 DYNAMIC STABILITY JOH-580 USA 3/N 69-15349 (DEG C) 17.5 A.1.1.5 ŝ ALTITUDE ALTITUDE 6170 TRIM الملكار المتحافية والمعالمة والمعالية والمعالية والمعالية والمحافظة والمحاف (FS) 100.3(MID) AVG CG LOCATION そそくろく Stephene Second **K** 10ů ຜ່ בי פי גרי גרי õ Ś 8 ß 8 õ 8 DIRECTIONL CONTROL POSITION CIN. FROM FLLL LEFT POSTTION POSTTION NEUTRAL) LONG TL TR VAV ATTITUDE COBO VAW RATE CDEG/SEC) כנ VOIL **JENIO** л Г г 9 T N 10 4 101 8 8 S S õ ר⊥ כואי SHORT DASH ТJ LATERAL CONTROL POSITION 10. FROM FULL LEF 12 75 A CYCLIC S POITIZOS FRITIZOS FRITIZOS FRITIZOS FUTIZOS CDEC) LILLINDE BOLT RATE CDEG/SEC) NOI ΪA Н/Я 20 LONCITUDINAL CONTROL DOTINO CONTROL DOTINO CONTROL DOTINO CONTROL DOTINO N 15 1 15-1 T S າ ນ т s Ť O ğ ŝ 0 ø 3 8 8 A LA đN nN đN ZAZ JIJAZ AZ POSITION (PERCET FROM NEVTRAL) RATE RATE PITCH HDTT9 200011114 (0300) **NCT** 68

SAS ON MODIFIED CLEAN CONFIGURATION T . ຕ ____ - ~ Ξ NOTES ğ N. FLIGHT ц Ц Ц ميدولك فالانداد مراسلهم وملاله المناسلة فالملازم ومعادلوه TRIM CAL IBRATED AIRSPEED GNUOTS) 80 SECONDS SPEED SPEED i TIME ŧ 4 r ပ်ဖ ليسمد بالالالم والمروم والمالية والمالية والمنافقة والمساورة AVG DATO CDE6 1 -10 TRIM DENSITY ALTITUDE (FEET) 6160 (FS) 109.2(MID) -NALANNAS - IN AVG CG LOCATION WARMAN AND ېغ م ò ŝ 0 ö S Ø ğ 0 S Ø 0 ø 0 8 8 3 8 LT CIN HROM FULL LEFTS CONTROL POSITION DIRECTIONAL ъ אז בז ТJ LONG TIONAL SAS POSITION RCENT FROM NEUTRAL) KATE RATE YAW WAY AUTITTA (330) 360 DIREC TCA IS J r <u>ר</u> זג Rt ع T ∾ s-S 101 ŝ 10 ē ר קס ò 8 3 8 NID LATERAL CONTROL POSITION (1. FROM FULL LEFT) (1. FROM FULL LEFT) SHORT DASH ۲J Ы ы RAH CYCLIC SAS POSITION (PERCENT FROM NEUTRAL) ROLL RATE (JEG/SEC) 10A r ۲ S ∓ 01 ŝ л S r 101 5 **r** 6 1 1 0 າ ທ Ň à S ო 3 8 8 FID CONTROL FOLL FU CONTROL POSITION LONGITUDINAL Solid Solid ΩN N đN **GN** L-H CYCLIC SA2 ACT VOLTION HORT FROM VEDRAL) PITCH ATTICH (03C) HDTI9 3749 (J32\330)

FIGURE IS DYFLANIC STABILITY JOHEBE USA S/N 69-15349

1000 I INTERTON CONSTRUCT LARGE STATE

SAS ON MODIFIED CLEAN CONFIGURATION 4 e ÷. 2 -..... NOTES: <u>ø</u> FLIGHT LEVEL 0 50200 TRIM CALIBRATED AJRSPEED AJRSPEED (KNOTS) SECONDS With the states APEED Control of the second se ŧ TIME FIGHE 16 DYNAMIC STABILITY JOH-SBC USA S/N 60-15349 (DEG C) 18.0 AVG DAT TRIM DENSITY ALTITUDE (FEET) 6000 (FS) 100.1 (MTD) AVG CG LOCATION AVG METGH 3120 3120 3120 ده لح ò õ S G ö ē S ŵ 3 3 8 Q õ 8 נוא גאסא גירך וברי כטאואסר גיסנדונוא סואנגדומאער סואנגדומאער צו רו RT 17 DAGH DAGH DIRECTIONAL SAS POSITION (PERCENT FROM VETRAL) CL-91 YAW RATE CDEG/SECS WAY SOUTITTA (DEC) T0A LATERAL CONTROL POSITION IN FROM FULL LEFTS RT RT t s S ŝ - 01 ່ດ ທ່ 3 Ġ 8 8 0 ŝ 8 LT CIN SHORT DASH -HERCENT FROM POSITION NEUTRAL) rя 11 гя 17 DEG/SEC) RATE ROLL CDEC) TOA н⁄а COMA TAA P ŝ ר ני т г т IJ 0 ц Б ר מ Ē 6 ø à 8 ñ ñ õ 8 3 3 LONGITUDINAL CONTROL POSITION CONTROL POSITION CONTROL POSITION CONTROL POSITION **N**N đN **N**N LVH CYQLIC SAS ACT NOTTION HORT FROM HORT FROM ٩Ŋ CDEG/SEC) BATE PITCH HOTTA 30UTUTA (030)

-





100.0000

~171,0000,000,000



19 M





1.

.

in the second

N,

75



•



12222

الر در د

1.0

77

(in a







5

t,

ŀ

1, * .



*.e.

Sector March



, 4 , 4 , 1 , 1





AND A DESCRIPTION OF A



and a second and a second

~~~~~~~~~

\$1.043.542.543.64.645.445.4764



ľe p

1



On the second with

كالأخذ الأخد



FIGURE 35 LON SPEED FLIGHT 330 DEGREE AZIMUTH JOH-SSC USA S/N 20-15349 AVG AVG AVG A 140 SNID SAS AVG KOTOR HEIGHT CONDITION DENSITY DAT LONGITUDINAL GROSS Ш<u>н</u> CG LOCATION **SPEED WEIGHT** ALTETUDE (FS) 107.0(FWD) (fIT) (IB) RPM) 10 ON 4620 12.0 3090 354 I DENOTES MAXIMUM PTITCH ATTITCDE (DEG) ND CONTROL EXCURSION DURING ATTEMPTED -O O O O STABILIZED POINT 2. LCH CONFIGURATION 00-0 TOTAL COLLECTIVE CONTROL TRAVEL = 9.7 INCHES T) (IN. FROM RULL 00 ŝ m 0 Π DIRECTIONAL CONTROL POSITION (TN. FROM FULL LT) LT TOTAL DIRECTIONAL CONTROL TRAVEL = 5.0 INCHES **A** TOTAL LATERAL CONTROL TRAVEL = 11.0 INCHES CONTRUL POST AL FUDIMAL OL POSITION FROM FULL FND) (10 TOTAL LONGITIZDINAL CONTROL TRAVEL = 12.2 INCHES -70 LINCHES FRO 五 ÷ fili Ð 10 20 30 40 50 TRUE AIRSPEED (KNOTS)

330 DESREE AZ IMUTH





and a start of a start of a start of a

\_ . \_ - -

1.2418

LOW SPEED ALIGHT 030 DE -15949 AVG AVQ AV() RCTOR SAS CONDITION AVG. AVG SK D GROSS CAGINIST HEIGHT CG LOCATION SPEED WEIGHT (LB) 3080 (FS) 107.5 (FWD) °C) 19,0 RPM) 1 ) 10 990 354 ON I 10 1 DEMOTES MAXIMUM CONTROL EXCURSION PITCH (DEG) Ð 0 0 DURING ATTEMPTED Û STABILIZED POINT LCH CONFIGURATION 10 TOTAL COLLECTIVE CONTROL TRAVEL = 9.7 INCHES 6 569 COLLECTINE INTROL POSITIC 1. FROM FULL E 5 <del>0</del>.... 0 T A 3 5 TOTAL DIRECTIONAL CONTROL TRAVEL INCHES N CONTROL POSITION CONTROL POSITION T) (IN, FROM FULL IT) 4 ::::: 3 2 â **O** TOTAL LATERAL CONTROL TRAVEL = 11.0 INCHES <u>н то</u>м || L L T|) || р Т 6 FERM. Φ NTROL POS đ ::::: ÷ 4 34 TOTAL LONGITUDINAL CONTROL TRAVEL = 12.2 INCHES <del>1</del>2 ALT TO CONTROL POSITIO CONTROL POSITIO (INCHES FROM FULL FUD 10 8 Đ Q 6 ..... 4 äh 4 TRUE ALRSPEED (KNOTS d30 DEGREE AZIMUTH

LOW SPEED ₩₩ AVG - AVG **A**14 AVG. SKID \$AS GROSS ROTOR Way-Dear Mec CONDITION 40 (G) (13) SPECO 9150 354 ON 10 P.ITCH ATTECH ATTECH CONTROL EXCURSION **10** DURING ATTEMPTED 0 O⊞ Ū, θ Θ STABILIZED POINT ç LCH CONFIGURATION 10 2221 -UCULLECTIVE NTROL POSITION L FROM FULL DW) TOTAL COLLECTIVE CONTROL TRAVEL = 9.7 INCHES <u>+6</u> 5 θ **G** Φ CONTROL FOSTIFICAL CONTR CONTROL FOSTIFICAL CONTR (CIN, FROM FULL LT) (IN) F ٠, 2 ΞĒ TOTAL DIRECTIONAL CONTROL TRAVEL = 5.0 INCHES ÷Ні Ð 2 Ð • 0 -----NTRON POSTITION NTRON POSTITION NT FROM PULLITION TOTAL LATERAL CON ROL TRAVEL = 11,0 INCHES 6 6 ð 0 H **a** TOTAL DINGITUDINAL CONTROL TRAVEL = 12.2 INCHES (INCIDES FROM FOULT AFT) 10 +--g 1 11 40 50 BO. TRUE 030 DEGREE AZEMUTH 93



580 USA 5/N 70-15349 Avc Ave AVG SKID \$AS AVG AVG HE IGHT CONDITION GROSS **QAI** ROTOR CG LOCATION MUTTERIM SPEED WEICHT 10 (IIS) RPH) **(III)** 11.5 364 10 4610 -OH 3 40 111 -----10 I DENOTES MAXIMUM 81 CONTROL EXCURSION FURING ATTEMPTED 0 0 a STABILIZED POINT Θ LCH CONFIGURATION ŦO 9,7 INCHES TOTAL CONLECTIVE CONTROL FRAVEL 6 5 4 0 -COLLEC NTROL D Ð . 11 NOS S NIT / 2 TOTAL DIRECTIONAL CONTROL TRAVEL = 5.0 INCHES DTRECTIONAL CONTROL POSITION (IN, FROM FULL LT) LT ROM FULL LT) li: ..... Ð 0 Φ 14 ..... 1 TOTAL LATERAL CONTROL TRAVEL = 10.0 INCHES NTROL POSITION R Φ Φ :::: 1 POST TON CONT TOTAL LONG ITUDINAL CONTROL TRAVEL = 12.2 INCHES 12 +( LONGETUD Ð 7 40 30 .... 30. 20 TRUE AIRSPEED (KNOTS) DEG DEGREE AZIMUTH



|                                       |     |                                        |                |          |                                       |                                       |            | CICI                | DE 43           |                                       |                 |                                       |              |              |          |
|---------------------------------------|-----|----------------------------------------|----------------|----------|---------------------------------------|---------------------------------------|------------|---------------------|-----------------|---------------------------------------|-----------------|---------------------------------------|--------------|--------------|----------|
|                                       |     |                                        |                |          |                                       |                                       | TCHT       | STOR                | NG 4-3<br>NADIY | TI TCHT                               |                 |                                       |              |              |          |
|                                       |     |                                        |                |          |                                       | JOH-                                  | 580        | USA                 | S/N             | 70-15349                              |                 |                                       |              |              |          |
|                                       |     | AVG                                    |                |          | AVG                                   |                                       |            | AV                  | 5               | AVG                                   | AV\$            | SKID                                  |              | SAS          |          |
|                                       | 6   | ROSS                                   |                | <u> </u> | GITU                                  | DINAL                                 |            | DENS                | ITY             | OAT                                   | ROTO            | R HEIGH                               | T            | NDIT         | ION      |
|                                       | N   |                                        |                | Lu       | LULA                                  | t turi                                |            | ALIL                |                 | (DEC C)                               | 1 DDM           | U                                     |              |              |          |
|                                       |     | 3180                                   |                | 107      | $\frac{13}{2}$                        | FWN                                   |            | 45                  | 60              | 10.5                                  | 354             |                                       |              | <u> </u>     | <u>.</u> |
|                                       |     | 0100                                   |                |          | • • •                                 | лнт                                   |            |                     | <b>VV</b>       | 10.0                                  |                 |                                       |              | <u></u>      |          |
|                                       |     |                                        | <del>≥10</del> |          |                                       |                                       |            |                     |                 |                                       | 1.              | I DENC                                | TES M        | AXIMU        | M        |
|                                       |     | H<br>H<br>O                            |                |          |                                       |                                       |            |                     |                 |                                       |                 | - CONTRO                              | H EXC        | URSIO        | N        |
|                                       | -   |                                        | - 0            |          |                                       |                                       |            |                     |                 | -                                     | •               |                                       |              | MPIED        |          |
|                                       | 8   | ES                                     |                |          | (                                     | }{                                    | <b>}</b> { | <b>)</b> t          | <b>7</b> 3      | <b>- v</b>                            | 2               |                                       | NETCH        | PUINT        |          |
|                                       |     | <                                      | -101           |          |                                       |                                       |            |                     |                 |                                       | <u> </u>        |                                       | /// 100      |              |          |
|                                       |     |                                        | <u> </u>       |          | ΤΟΤΔ                                  | r ni                                  | FCT        | IVE C               | ONTRO           | TRAVEL                                | = 9 7           | INCHES                                | ··•• ··· ·   |              |          |
|                                       |     | zZ                                     | <u>5</u> 8     |          | IVIA                                  | - 4VL                                 |            |                     |                 |                                       |                 | Inches                                | <del></del>  |              |          |
|                                       |     |                                        |                |          |                                       |                                       |            |                     |                 | i                                     |                 | • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • |              | ì            |          |
|                                       | -2  | 5 <del>5</del>                         | 6              |          |                                       |                                       |            |                     |                 |                                       |                 |                                       |              | <u> </u>     |          |
|                                       |     | <u>с</u> т                             |                |          |                                       |                                       | T          | ▶ €                 |                 |                                       |                 |                                       |              | • ··· •      | •••      |
|                                       |     | 25                                     | - 4            |          |                                       |                                       |            |                     |                 |                                       |                 |                                       |              |              |          |
|                                       | 8   | <u>а</u> п                             |                |          |                                       |                                       |            |                     |                 |                                       |                 | · · · · · · · · · ·                   | • • • •      | •<br>• • • · |          |
|                                       |     | S Z                                    | <del>z</del> 2 |          |                                       |                                       |            |                     |                 |                                       |                 |                                       |              | · ·          |          |
|                                       |     | $\stackrel{\scriptstyle \smile}{\sim}$ |                |          | TOTA                                  | LON                                   | CITI       | TNAI                | CONT            | DOI TRAVE                             | 1 = 12          | 2 INCHE                               | <u>ر</u>     |              | ÷••••    |
|                                       |     | N N                                    | <b>₹ 10</b>    |          | IUIA                                  |                                       | uriu       |                     | CUIII           |                                       |                 | • • • • • • • • •                     | J            | ;            | <u> </u> |
|                                       | - 7 |                                        |                |          |                                       |                                       | ····       |                     |                 |                                       | •               |                                       |              |              |          |
|                                       | R   |                                        | 8              |          |                                       |                                       | 7          | TT                  |                 |                                       |                 |                                       |              |              |          |
|                                       | 9   | 0:1-                                   |                |          |                                       |                                       |            |                     | 4               | - ¥~                                  | <b>U</b>        |                                       | . <u>.</u>   |              |          |
|                                       |     | <u>۲</u>                               | 6              |          |                                       | -                                     |            |                     |                 |                                       |                 |                                       |              |              |          |
|                                       | NO  | а́ Г                                   |                |          |                                       |                                       |            |                     |                 |                                       |                 |                                       |              |              |          |
|                                       |     | ðz.                                    | 84             |          |                                       |                                       |            |                     |                 |                                       |                 |                                       |              |              | ·        |
|                                       |     | $\underline{}$                         |                |          | TOTA                                  |                                       | PDAI       | CONT                | DAI T           |                                       |                 | 01150                                 |              |              |          |
|                                       |     | 85                                     | <u>x</u> 8     |          | IUIA                                  | LAI                                   | EKAL       | CONT                | KUL T           | KAVEL = 1                             |                 | UNES                                  |              |              |          |
|                                       |     |                                        |                |          |                                       |                                       | 7          |                     | 7               | <del></del>                           | a l             |                                       |              |              |          |
|                                       |     | S H                                    | 6              |          |                                       |                                       |            | 2 3                 |                 | <u> </u>                              | ¥               |                                       |              |              |          |
|                                       | ER  | ā.<br>Z                                |                | •        | <u> </u>                              | 2 -                                   |            |                     | •               |                                       |                 |                                       | •<br>••••••• |              |          |
|                                       | A   | <u> </u>                               | - 4            |          |                                       |                                       |            |                     |                 |                                       |                 |                                       |              |              |          |
|                                       |     |                                        |                |          |                                       |                                       |            |                     |                 |                                       |                 |                                       | - <u>+</u>   |              |          |
|                                       |     | <u>ez</u>                              | - 2            |          |                                       |                                       |            |                     |                 |                                       |                 |                                       | <u> </u>     |              |          |
|                                       |     | <u> </u>                               | <b></b>        |          | TOTA                                  | DIR                                   | EETI       | NAL                 | CONTR           | OL TRAVEL                             | = 5.0           | INCHES                                |              |              | <b>.</b> |
|                                       |     |                                        | 2 4            |          |                                       |                                       |            |                     |                 |                                       |                 |                                       |              |              |          |
|                                       |     | zΞ                                     |                |          |                                       |                                       |            |                     |                 |                                       |                 |                                       |              |              |          |
|                                       |     |                                        | 3              |          |                                       |                                       |            |                     |                 |                                       |                 |                                       |              |              |          |
|                                       | NO  | n I                                    |                |          |                                       |                                       |            |                     |                 | .<br>                                 |                 |                                       | • • • •      |              |          |
|                                       |     |                                        | 2              |          |                                       |                                       | <b>a</b>   |                     |                 |                                       | ++              |                                       |              |              |          |
|                                       | Щ.  | JQ.                                    |                |          | •                                     | <b>F</b>                              |            | <b>F</b> - <b>I</b> | <b>F</b> 4      |                                       | *               |                                       |              |              |          |
|                                       |     | τu.                                    | 1              |          |                                       |                                       |            |                     |                 |                                       | <del>4</del> 9. |                                       | <u>.</u>     |              |          |
| · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · |     | Č.                                     |                |          |                                       |                                       |            |                     |                 | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · |                 |                                       |              |              |          |
|                                       |     | -=                                     | <b>-</b> 0     |          |                                       |                                       |            |                     |                 |                                       |                 |                                       |              |              |          |
|                                       |     |                                        |                |          | <b>)</b>                              | 1                                     | 0          | 2                   | <b>þ</b>        | 30                                    | 40              |                                       | 50           |              |          |
|                                       |     |                                        |                |          |                                       |                                       |            |                     |                 |                                       |                 |                                       |              |              |          |
|                                       |     | ····                                   |                |          | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | T          | RUE A               | LRSPE           | ED (KNOTS                             | 51              |                                       |              |              |          |
|                                       |     |                                        |                |          |                                       |                                       |            | 1                   |                 |                                       | 190 DE          | GREE AZ                               | MUTH         |              | ·<br>    |



## SPEED FLIGHT 129 Joh-Bac USA 6/N Avg AZ MITH AVG AVG SAS SKID AVG RETORIELENT GROSS LONGITUDINA CONDITION WEICHT SPEED CG LOCATION (†\$) 107.1(fx0) $(\Pi)$ (+C) (LB) \$130 12.0 ØN 364 10 10 LIDENCIES MAXIMUM

E H CONTROL EXCURSION DURING ATTEMPTED 0 STABILIZED POINT 2 LCH CONFIGURATION 10 TOTAL COLLECTIVE CONTROL TRAVEL = 9.7 INCHES 6

DL FCTIVE . . . . ÷ H ð z ö ----28  $\widehat{\mathbf{H}}$ TOTAL DIRECTIONAL CONTROL TRAVEL ÷ 5.0 INCHES 

ERECTIONAL ROL POSITION FROM FULL LT TOTAL LATERAL CONTROL TRAVEL = 11.0 INCHE

CONTROL POSITION CONTROL CONTROL POSITION CONTROL (1N. FROM FULL LT) (11. FROM f

TOTAL LONGITUDINAL CONTROL TRAVEL = 2.2 INCHES +12 CONTROL POSITION NAL CONTROL POSITION (INCHES FROM FULL F 10 2D 40 ΞE TRUE ATROPPED (KNOTS)

AZIMUTH

120

DEGREE





(\* (\* **\*** \*






FIGURE QI SPECE FLIGHT 210 DEGREE AZIMITH Johe 580 DSA S/N 70-15349 AVG AVG AVG AVG LOW ..... AVG AVE AVG SKIÐ SAS CONDITION LONGLICUITAL GROSS ¢A∏ ROTOR NEIGHT PEED CG LOCATION (IB) (FS) (FT) f C RCM) FT 3120 12.0 107.1(WD) 4670 354 10 DW 11111 10 PITCH ATTIVDE (DEC) ND E DENOTES MAXIMUN .... CONTROL EXCURSION DURING ATTEMPTED STABILIZED POINT LCH CONFIGURATION ĺÐ COLLECTIVE CONTROL POSITION (IN. FROM FULL DN) TOTAL COLLECTIVE CONTROL TRAVEL = 9.7 INCHES m 5 ::: шi .... DIRECTIONAL CONTROL POSITION (IN. FROM FULL UT) ~ TOTA DIRECTIONAL CONTROL TRAVEL = 5.0 INCHES :#: ATER'S A TOTA LATERAL CONTROL TRAVEL # 11 O INCHES 7南 LATTAC ID) (11 .: : :::: LONGITUDINAL CONTROL TRAVEL = 12.2 INCHES TOTA 12 A CL 10 (INCHES FROM ) 8 1 ----..... 20 h 30 :: ..... ..... :### • DEGREE AZIMUTH ÌÖİ 105

í J





アンドレンシング

FIGURE 54 SPEED FLISHT 240 DEGREE AZIMUTH IDM-58C DSA S/N 70-15389 LOW AVG AVC. **SKID** SAS AVG AVG WG. IE IGHT CONCITEON ROTOR GROSS LONGITUDINAL DAT NEIGHT **SPEED** 1111-(HI) (RPM) (LB 107.5 (FWD) 354 **EIN** 3100 1300 21.5 10 I DENOTES MAXIMUM E. ::::: CONTROL EXCURSION ATT 1100 ATT 1100 (DEG) DURING ATTEMPTED 0 0---0 θ STABILIZED POINT LCH CONFIGURATION 10 CONTROL ECT IVE CONTROL FOSI TION (11, FROM FULL DN) 9.7 INCHES TOTAL COLLECTIVE CONTROL TRAVEL 6 1.... 5 œ Л 2 DIRECTIONAL CONTROL POSITION (IN\_ FROM FULL LT) ( = 5.0 INCHES TOTAL DIRECTIONAL CONTROL TRAVEL 4 ¥, P ::: 3 ÷... 2 Ð 9 1 ..... .... 1 LATERAL ONTROL FOSTITON N. FROM FULL LT) -TOTAL LATERAL CONTROL TRAVEL = 11.0 TACHES L H 75 6 9 The control 5 P 4 ..... (UNCHES FROM FULL FULL LONGITUDINAL CONTROL TRAVEL = 12.2 INCHES TOTAL 12 Ð 10 111 8 ----4 6 4 10 яh 30 40 50 ΞĒ TRUE ALREPLED (KNOTS) 240 DEGREE AZIMUTH

1 AV SPEED F TOWT 240 DEGREE AZIMUTH Jon-132 USA S/N 70-15349 ##### AVG AVC AHG **S**AS AVG AVG SKID LONGITUDINAL HEIGHT COMPLETIO ROTOR GROSS CG LOCATION PEED HEIGHT (FS) 107,1(FWD) (°C) 12,( (1.8) PPM 3 (81) 3100 354 10 ÐN.... ŧŌ T DENOTES MAXEMUM H CONTROL EXCURSION ATTTUD (DEG) E L DURING ATTEMPTED .... STABILIZED POINT Θ 2. LCH CONFIGURATION TOTAL COLLECTIVE CONTROL TRAVEL + 9.7 INCHES ONTROL POSITION 6 COLLECTIVE a (1.) đ ጠ 0 1 -----NUN ..... :::::**:**:: CONTROL FOGSTIION (THI FROM FULL LT) ( LTT ROM FULL LT) ( TOTAL DIRECTIONAL CONTROL TRAVEL = 5.0 INCHES ONAL DIRECT CONTRDL POSETTON CONTRDL POSETTON CONTRDL POSETTON CONTRDL POSETTON CONTRDL POSETTON CONTRD C ..... TOTAL LATERAL CONTROL TRAVEL = 11.0 INCHES • ٠; Ð Y CONTROL POSITION (INCHES FROM FULL FUD) FUD AFT TOTAL LONG TUDINAL CONTROL TRAVEL = 12.2 INCHES 72 CHC T UT I HA 10 UT I 0 f 20 10 50 h 30 40 TRUE ALMSPEED (KNOTS) 240 DEGREE AZEMUTH 109

5.2.0







an shirt







FIGURE 61 SIMULATED ENGINE FAILURE JOH-58C USA S/N 70-15349

AVG DAT

FLIGHT CONDITION

TRIM DENSITY ALTITUDE

AVG CG

555.00

1.2.2



NOTE: MODIFIED CLEAN CONFIGURATION 7₿ 1 -% -2 2 -8 FLIGHT LEVEL <u></u> 1 TRIM CALIBRATED AIRSPEED CKNOTS) 89 <u>o</u> 14 14 SECONDS FIGURE 63 ROLL SAS HARDOVER JOH-580 USH S/N 70-15349 <u>N</u> Ţ (DEG C) 10 5 AVG OAT i ō. TRIM DENSITY ALTITUDE (FEET) 6040 j. H മ (FS) 109.2(MID) Ð ശ AVG CG LOCATION ķ AVG RECONS METGHT 3130 +3 ò Ó ġ Ó ġ \$ œ ώ Ň ò 8 8 8 8 8 8 କ୍ଷ \$ 4 8 CONTROL POSITION CONTROL POSITION DIRECTIONAL LONG DIRECTIONAL SAS POSITION (PERCENT FROM NEUTRAL) TJ TA TЯ YAW RATE (DEG/SEC) WAY ATTITUDE (DEG) SVS **T**⊃A 6 r 4 2 8 6 ė ġ 6 0 0 8 8 \$ 8 8 8 8 8 କ୍ଷ 8 SHORT DASH LATERAL CONTROL POSITION CUNTROL POSITION LT RT LT LT RT LT TЯ L٦ TЯ R/H CYCLIC SAS ACT POSITION (PERCENT FROM NEUTRAL) ROLL COECO RATE RATE CDEG/SEC) -Fo 4 .... 2 Ó õ Ó ø 8 Ø œ 8 8 **\$** 8 8 3 8 8 8 LONGITUDINAL CONTROL POSITION LONGITUDINAL ETA A N đΝ ΠN đN ΠN L/H CYCLIC SAS ACT POSITION (PERCENT FROM NEUTRAL) PITCH RATE CDEG/SEC) PITCH ATTITUDE (DEG)

6

NTARA SA

117

ī TIME



Constant of the



.

NOTE: MODIFIED CLEAN CONFIGURATION -83 8 -2 8 -କ୍ଷ FLIGHT HOVER <u>æ</u> TRIK CALIBRATED AIRSPEED CONOTS) ഇ - SECONDS U H FIGHE 66 ROLL SAS HARDOVER JOH-SBC USA S/N 70-15340 .∾ **A4** <u>@</u>. ALTITUDE SERITY SEETS 2100 c (FS) 100.4(MD) AVG CG LOCATION SAC FEBH SCOSS ידא גע 8 11 ¢ RТ 8 ò ġ 9 õ 8 8 8 8 רז כמעוואסר גערד רפין סמעוואסר געצודומא סוואפרדומאאר אז בז DASH DASH DIRECTIONAL S. POSITION POSITION POSICENT FIG NEUTRAL) WAY BOUTITTA COBOD VAW RATE CJEG/SEC) 1.31 2 11 8 1 4 ė ò ğ 8 8 8 8 8 9 ğ LATERAL CONTROL POEIT CIN. FROM FULL 9-ORT DASH 14 K K ЪЯ RT H CYOLIC S POSITION POSITION 1091 1001 1001 1001 (030) 104 H/3 LONGITUDINAL CONTROL POSITION CONTROL POSITION FIN FIN CONGITUDINAL л 80 1 02 8 ŝ т т ð 6 ġ 8 g କ୍ଷ 8 9 8 A y đN đN **N**N ſΝ LAH CYQLIC SAS ACT NOLTIZON HOST FROM NEUTRAL) CDEC/SEC) CDEG) 120



NOLICIO LOLICIO LOLICIO DE LA COLOCIÓN DE LA COLOCICICACIC

٠,

Sector ( Sector

Ø

10-LOCX

1.



**G**he





**Karan** 

P

54 • 3



40 KNOT APPROACH WITH 90 DEGREE RIGHT TURN TO CROSSWIND HOVER VIDD SPEED 13 - 10 KNOTS SAS ON LCH CONFIGURATION FIGURE 71 TAIL ROTOR EFFECTIVENESS INVESTIGATION JOH-SEC USA SAN 70-15349 NOTES TRUM CALIDRATED AIRSPEED (RNDTS) ပိစ AVG OAT 88 9 TRIM DENSITY ALTITUDE (FEET) 6780 LOSS OF (FS) 107 1(FWD) AVG CG LOCATION ł Ø 8 3 0 8 8 8 8 0 0 8 270 8 Ø æ മ 2 8 LI FROM FULL LEFT) CONTROL POSITION DIRECTIONAL тя 17 LONG POSITION (PERCENT FROM NEUTRAL) тя 11 KATE RATE CDEG/SEC) 30011111A (330) **TOA** SAS DIRECTIONAL WAY r 8 t N 101 8 Ť 4 ò à ò 8 8 õ 8 õ 8 õ 8 8 8 SHORT DASH RT LЛ RT

באדפאב כסטוואסע הסבודוסע כוער האסא העוב נבידו נד גד אז ב TOA ZAZ DI DYO HAA NOITIZOA HOAT TYGOARON (LASTUBN CDEC) ROLL RATE CDEG/SEC) 0 ÷ Ч 4 Ġ ġ 0 8 8 õ ĝ 8 8 õ Ň 3 8 6 8 8 nN đN ΛN LONGITUDINAL CONTROL POSITION (IN FROM FULL FUD) FUD ACT **GN** L/H CYQLIC SAS ACT NOITION MOST FROM NEUTRAL) PITCH PATE CDEG/SEC) CDEG) 125

ട്ട

-1X

\$

4

ĝ

8

2

8 ł

٦

+8

<u>9</u>

<u>~</u>

œ

C

0

-0

SECONDS

TIME 2



£Ъ

SALA GALAND

Sector State

ninto for the form

100.00

WERE STREET

## DISTRIBUTION

| HQDA  | (DALO-AV, DALO-FDQ, DAMO-HRS, DAMA-PPM-T,                | 6  |  |
|-------|----------------------------------------------------------|----|--|
| DA    | DAMA-RA, DAMA-WSA)                                       |    |  |
| US Ar | my Materiel Command (AMCDE-SA, AMCDE-P, AMCQA-SA,        | 4  |  |
| AM    | CQA-ST)                                                  |    |  |
| US Ar | my Training and Doctrine Command (ATCD-T, ATCD-B)        | 2  |  |
| US Ar | my Aviation Systems Command (AMSAV-8, AMSAV-ED,          | 15 |  |
| A     | MSAV-Q, AMSAV-MC, AMSAV-ME, AMSAV-L, AMSAV-N,            |    |  |
| A     | MSAV-GTD)                                                |    |  |
| US Ar | my Test and Evaluation Command (AMSTE-TE-V,              | 2  |  |
| AM    | STE-TE-0)                                                |    |  |
| US Ar | my Logistics Evaluation Agency (DALO-LEI)                | 1  |  |
| US Ar | my Materiel Systems Analysis Agency (AMXSY-RV, AMXSY-MP) | 8  |  |
| US Ar | my Operational Test and Evaluation Agency (CSTE-AVSD-E)  | 2  |  |
| US Ar | my Armor School (ATSB-CD-TE)                             | 1  |  |
| US Ar | my Aviation Center (ATZQ-D-T, ATZQ-CDC-C, ATZQ-TSM-A,    | 5  |  |
| Ατ    | ZQ-TSM-S, ATZQ-TSM-LH)                                   |    |  |
| US Ar | my Combined Arms Center (ATZL-TIE)                       | 1  |  |
| US Ar | my Safety Center (PESC-SPA, PESC-SE)                     | 2  |  |
| US Ar | my Cost and Economic Analysis Center (CACC-AM)           | 1  |  |
| US Ar | my Aviation Research and Technology Activity (AVSCOM)    | 3  |  |
| NA    | SA/Ames Research Center (SAVRT-R, SAVRT-M (Library)      |    |  |
| US Ar | my Aviation Research and Technology Activity (AVSCOM)    | 2  |  |
| Av    | iation Applied Technology Directorate (SAVRT-TY-DRD      |    |  |
| SA    | VRT-TY-TSC (Tech Library)                                |    |  |

S.

| US Army Aviation Research and Technology Activity (AVSCOM) | 1 |  |
|------------------------------------------------------------|---|--|
| Aeroflightdynamics Directorate (SAVRT-AF-D)                |   |  |
| US Army Aviation Research and Technology Activity (AVSCOM) | 1 |  |
| Propulsion Directorate (SAVRT-PN-D)                        |   |  |
| Defense Technical Information Center (FDAC)                | 2 |  |
| US Military Academy, Department of Mechanics               | 1 |  |
| (Aero Group Director)                                      |   |  |
| ASD/AFXT, ASD/ENF                                          |   |  |
| US Army Aviation Development Test Activity (STEBG-CT)      | 2 |  |
| Assistant Technical Director for Projects, Code: CT-24     |   |  |
| (Mr. Joseph Dunn)                                          | 2 |  |
| 6520 Test Group (ENML)                                     |   |  |
| Commander, Naval Air Systems Command (AIR 5115B, AIR 5301) |   |  |
| Defense Intelligence Agency (DIA-DT-2D)                    |   |  |
| US Army Aviation Systems Command (AMSAV-EI)                | 1 |  |
| US Army Aviation Systems Command (AMSAV-LT)                | 1 |  |
| US Army Aviation Systems Command (AMSAV-EIO)               | 1 |  |
| Headquarters, 3rd SQDN, 5th CAV (AFVO-CBF-CDR)             |   |  |
| SFENA Corporation                                          |   |  |

.

12 SANA X888

**O**NNA AN

ł,

ŝ

5.2